
annual report 2011



2
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4 strong growth in a stable market

that together accommodate the full spectrum of customers 
and their individual needs. Finally, Oticon Medical’s bone-
anchored hearing systems, which are being successfully in-
troduced in an increasing number of markets, help us meet 
practically every need for hearing solutions in the market. In 
that connection, I am pleased to note that at the end of 2011 
– after just two years on the market – Oticon Medical is now 
making a positive contribution to consolidated operating 
earnings. 

All these developments are a refl ection of so-called micro-
segmentation – a phenomenon that is here to stay and will 
undoubtedly put added pressure on smaller players because 
the costs of being at the cutting edge never cease to rise. 
To illustrate this point, it is worth noting that the William 
Demant Group’s consolidated growth in revenues in 2010 
and 2011 corresponds to the revenue generated by one of 
the industry’s smaller players. Granted, certain acquisitions 
have contributed to the growth we have achieved, but in fact, 
organic growth accounts for over half of the Group’s total in-
crease in revenues in 2010 and 2011. 

However, ”just” having good products is no longer enough. 
To become the preferred supplier of hearing care professio-
nals, a manufacturer must also be able to offer a complete 
package of services such as training, counselling tools, 
software as well as marketing materials and marketing 
cooperation. The quality of these services varies conside-
rably from manufacturer to manufacturer, which is why 
these services make it possible to further position each 
individual brand – a potential that we have done much to 
exploit in recent years. 

Investors and analysts seem preoccupied with issues like 
economic decline, consumer reluctance and the risk of re-
cession. Specifi cally, they seem to fear that the uncertain 
macro-economic forecasts will curb end-users’ desire to buy 
hearing aids. Nonetheless, I honestly believe that this fear 
is baseless, as there is no obvious historical correlation be-
tween general economic trends and the demand for hearing 
aids. The population of potential end-users is developing 
steadily and predictably and will continue to do so for dec-
ades to come. Moreover, most hearing aids are bought with-
out any form of subsidy, which means that, unlike other med-
tech industries, the hearing aid industry is relatively un-
touched by health reforms and budget cuts. In our industry, 
it is thus very important for both individual manufacturers 
and the market as a whole to keep abreast of product cycles.

StronG GroWtH In a StaBle MarKet

Dear reader

2011 was another good year for the William Demant Group. 
So good in fact that our wholesale of hearing aids generated 
unit growth of no less than 17%, an advance that has en-
abled us to maintain our position as the industry’s fastest-
growing company and once again to capture signifi cant 
market shares. Volume growth in the underlying market 
amounted to just under 4%, which falls within the custom-
ary growth pattern. In other words, the hearing aid market 
seems essentially unaffected by the general economic 
slowdown.

The Group’s other two business activities, Diagnostic Instru-
ments and Personal Communication, also performed well 
in 2011. As well as generating strong organic growth, Diag-
nostic Instruments further consolidated its activities by ac-
quiring distribution businesses in the US market. Growth in 
Personal Communication was driven by Sennheiser Commu-
nications, which again realised high, double-digit, organic 
growth. 

I am certain that our success lies chiefl y in our long-standing 
focus on technology, innovation and product development 
coupled with our close partnership with primary customers, 
i.e. dispensers and hearing care professionals. 

I would even venture to say that ours is defi nitely the strong-
est and most up-to-date product programme in the industry. 
Carrying every conceivable model variant, Oticon’s portfolio 
in particular offers customers products that are probably se-
cond to none in the industry. 

The ultra-fast, sophisticated RISE 2 platform is the engine 
driving the steady stream of products that have been rolling 
onto the market since spring 2010. The Intiga family will be 
enhanced further in spring 2012, when Oticon launches its 
fi rst IIC instrument (Invisible Inside the Canal) called Intigai.

This advanced technology has enabled us to set new stan-
dards for what hearing care professionals and end-users can 
expect in modern hearing aids in terms of sound quality and 
features. These advances are primarily the result of dedicat-
ed development projects conducted in the fi eld of wireless 
technology since 2000.  

In acquiring the US hearing aid brand Sonic that comple-
ments the Group’s two other brands – Danish Oticon and 
Swiss Bernafon – we now boast three hearing aid brands 
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Finally, I would like to extend a warm thank you to all our 
highly skilled and committed employees whose determina-
tion over the past three years has helped put the Group back 
on the growth track. Thanks to their tireless efforts, in 2012 
the William Demant Group stands very strong and equipped 
to take on the competition. 

Niels Jacobsen
President & CEO
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in 2011, the group as a whole matched our most recent fore-
casts. the group recorded solid double-digit growth in ear-
nings per share for the third year running – or more precisely, 
an improvement of 22%. by comparison, the corresponding 
increases in 2009 and 2010 were 17% and 24%, respectively. 
the impressive development in 2011 is, among other factors, 
due to the positive contribution of all business activities to 
our organic growth, which amounted to 9% in 2011. acquisiti-
ons made a 7% contribution to sales in 2011 while currency 
had a positive impact of 1%, bringing total revenues up to 
dkk 8,041 million, corresponding to reported growth of 17%.

the group recorded operating profits (ebit) of dkk 1,709 
million, close on 20% on the previous year, and a profit mar-
gin of 21.3% (20.7% in 2010). realised net profits for the year 
were dkk 1,199 million, representing an increase of 21% on 
2010.

in 2011, the group achieved volume growth of no less than 
17% in wholesale of hearing aids, with recently acquired so-
nic accounting for 3 percentage points. with market growth 
of just under 4% in terms of units, we have thus once again 
managed to win significant market shares. in our assess-
ment, there are no signs that the economic slowdown or 
consumers’ reluctance to buy has adversely affected the 
market for hearing aids. 

in 2011, oticon’s growth was mainly driven by the distinct en-
hancement of the product programme that was kick-started 
in spring 2010 with the launch of the premium family oticon 
agil, which also marked the introduction of the new, advan-
ced rise 2 platform. since then, products such as oticon acto 
and oticon ino have been introduced in the lower price cate-
gories. together with the design family oticon intiga, both 
acto and ino contributed significantly to corporate growth 
in 2011. combined with the growth generated by other new 
products such as the super power family chili and the pae-
diatric product family safari, oticon demonstrated consider-
able momentum in 2011 and is today the best-positioned 
brand in the market for hearing aids. in march 2012, the 
introduction of intigai, a so-called iic solution (invisible 
inside the canal), will mark oticon’s entry into the market 
for tiny in-the-ear instruments. 

for bernafon too, growth was driven by a strong product 
programme. the second half of the year saw the launch of 
chronos in the high-end segments, while the lower-priced 
inizia was available throughout 2011 and therefore accounted 
for an important part of bernafon’s total growth.  

finally, the sonic brand acquired by the group at the end of 
2010 has further fortified the group’s wholesale business.  

oticon medical continued in 2011 to capture market shares 
in the market for bone-anchored hearing systems while con-
tributing to the ongoing expansion of the market. oticon 
medical’s substantial growth since the company’s first pro-
ducts were released for sale at the end of 2009 means that 
the company has contributed to the group with positive 
operating earnings since the autumn of 2011.  

in 2011, the group’s retail activities also performed very well, 
returning a growth rate slightly below that of our wholesale 
business. one of the drivers of this favourable development 
was our focus on general operational optimisation. 

2011 was a particularly eventful year for diagnostic instru-
ments. we continued our focus on boosting market shares 
through organic growth while actively pursuing acquisitional 
opportunities, one result being the takeover of distribution 
activities in the us market. overall, diagnostic instruments 
generated reported growth in 2011 of no less than 28% and 
organic growth of 12%. 

growth in personal communication was driven solely by 
sennheiser communications, which has performed very 
well in recent years, particularly in the professional seg-
ment, where the integration of various communication tools 
and media (unified communication) is constantly fuelling the 
need for special headsets. conversely, frontrow’s educatio-
nal systems are struggling under difficult market conditions, 
while phonic ear is suffering under the increasing tendency 
by hearing aid manufacturers to integrate features offered 
by accessory products for the hearing-impaired into new 
hearing aids. consequently, accessories are less frequently 
sold as stand-alone solutions. total organic growth in per-
sonal communication constituted 8% in 2011. 

THE YEAR At a GlanCe
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8 key figures and financial ratios – dkk

Financial ratios are calculated in accordance with ”Recommendations and Financial Ratios 2010” from the Danish Society of Financial Analysts. The free 
cash flow is calculated as the sum of cash flows from operating activities (CFFO) and investing activities (CFFI) adjusted for acquisitions. On computation 
of the return on equity, average equity is calculated duly considering the current buyback of shares.

*Per share of DKK 1.

KeY FIGureS anD FInanCIal ratIoS – DKK

InCoMe StateMent, DKK MIllIon
revenue
gross profit
research and development costs 
ebitda
depreciation etc.
operating profit (ebit)
net financial items
profit before tax
profit for the year

BalanCe SHeet, DKK MIllIon
net interest-bearing debt
total assets
equity

otHer KeY FIGureS, DKK MIllIon
investment in property, plant and equipment, net
cash flow from operating activities (cffo)
free cash flow
employees (average)

FInanCIal ratIoS
gross profit ratio
ebitda margin
profit margin (ebit margin)
return on equity
equity ratio
earnings per share (eps), dkk*
cash flow per share (cfps), dkk*
free cash flow per share, dkk*
dividend per share, dkk*
book value per share, dkk*
price earnings (p/e)
share price, dkk*
market cap. adjusted for treasury shares, dkk million 
average number of shares, million

2010

 6,892 
 4,959 

 615 
 1,654 

 224 
 1,430 

 -116 
 1,314 

 988 

 -1,869 
 6,786 
 2,443 

 251 
 826 
 494 

 6,318 

71.9%
24.0%
20.7%
49.5%
36.0%

 16.9 
 14.1 
 8.5 

0 
 41.9 

 24 
 414 

 24,173 
 58.35

2011

 8,041 
 5,777 

 633 
 1,942 

 233 
 1,709 

 -103 
 1,606 
 1,199 

 -1,548 
 7,646 
 3,304 

 382 
 1,381 

 895 
 7,392 

71.8%
24.2%
21.3%
41.7%
43.2% 

 20.6 
 23.7 
 15.4 

0 
 56.7 

 23 
 478 

 27,397 
 58.24

2009

 5,701 
 4,035 

 576 
 1,341 

 192 
 1,149 

 -94 
 1,055 

 795 

 -1,575 
 4,626 
 1,302 

 181 
 950 
 656 

 5,674 

70.8%
23.5%
20.2%
87.2%
28.1%

 13.6 
 16.3 
 11.2 

0 
 22.3 

 29 
 393 

 22,894 
 58.31

2008

 5,374 
 3,725 

 533 
 1,217 

 174 
 1,042 

 -139 
 903 
 682 

 -1,908 
 3,914 

 532 

 196 
 828 
 588 

 5,383 

69.3%
22.6%
19.4%

162.9%
13.6%

 11.6 
 14.1 
 10.0 

0 
 9.2 
 19 

 218 
 12,718 
 58.77

2007

 5,488 
 3,971 

 505 
 1,436 

 169 
 1,268 

 -97 
 1,171 
 895 

 -1,800 
 3,714 

 426 

 166 
 848 
 756 

 5,072 

72.4%
26.2%
23.1 %

160.3%
11.5%

 14.8 
 14.0 
 12.5 

0 
 7.2 
 32 

 471 
 28,063 

 60.62



9key figures and financial ratios – eur**

Financial ratios are calculated in accordance with ”Recommendations and Financial Ratios 2010” from the Danish Society of Financial Analysts. The free 
cash flow is calculated as the sum of cash flows from operating activities (CFFO) and investing activities (CFFI) adjusted for acquisitions. On computation 
of the return on equity, average equity is calculated duly considering the current buyback of shares.

*Per share of DKK 1.
**On the translation of key figures and financial ratios from DKK to EUR, Danmarks Nationalbank’s rate of exchange at 31 December 2011 of 743.42 has 
been used for balance sheet items, and the average rate of exchange of 745.05 has been used for income statement and cash flow items.

KeY FIGureS anD FInanCIal ratIoS – eur**

InCoMe StateMent, eur MIllIon
revenue
gross profit
research and development costs 
ebitda
depreciation etc.
operating profit (ebit)
net financial items
profit before tax
profit for the year

BalanCe SHeet, eur MIllIon
net interest-bearing debt
total assets
equity

otHer KeY FIGureS, eur MIllIon
investment in property, plant and equipment, net
cash flow from operating activities (cffo)
free cash flow
employees (average)

FInanCIal ratIoS
gross profit ratio
ebitda margin
profit margin (ebit margin)
return on equity
equity ratio
earnings per share (eps), eur*
cash flow per share (cfps), eur*
free cash flow per share, eur*
dividend per share, eur*
book value per share, eur*
price earnings (p/e)
share price, eur*
market cap. adjusted for treasury shares, eur million 
average number of shares, million

2010

 925 
 666 

 83 
 222 

 30 
 192 
 -16 

 176 
 133 

 -251 
 913 
 329 

 34 
 111 
 66 

 6,318 

71.9%
24.0%
20.7%
49.5%
36.0%

 2.3 
 1.9 
 1.1 

0   
 5.6 
 24 
 56 

 3,252 
 58.35

2011

 1,079 
 775 

 85 
 261 

 31 
 229 
 -14 

 216 
 161 

 -208 
 1,028 

 444 

 51 
 185 
 120 

 7,392 

71.8%
24.2%
21.3%
41.7%
43.2%

 2.8 
 3.2 
 2.1 

0   
 7.6 
 23 
 64 

 3,685 
 58.24

2009

 765 
 542 

 77 
 180 
 26 

 154 
 -13 

 142 
 107 

 -212 
 622 
 175 

 24 
 128 
 88 

 5,674 

70.8%
23.5%
20.2%
87.2%
28.1%

 1.8 
 2.2 
 1.5 

 0   
 3.0 
 29 
 53 

 3,080 
 58.31

2008

 721 
 500 

 72 
 163 
 23 

 140 
 -19 
 121 
 92 

 -257 
 527 

 72 

 26 
 111 
 79 

 5,383 

69.3%
22.6%
19.4%

162.9%
13.6%

 1.6 
 1.9 
 1.3 

 0   
 1.2 
 19 
 29 

 1,711 
 58.77

2007

 737
 533 

 68 
 193 
 23 

 170 
 -13 

 157 
 120 

 -242 
 500 

 57 

 22 
 114 
 102 

 5,072 

72.4%
26.2%
23.1%

160.3%
11.5%

 2.0 
 1.9 
 1.7 

 0   
 1.0 
 32 
 63 

 3,775 
 60.62



10 review

Market conditions and business trends
the hearing aid market in general
in 2011, the market for hearing aids proved once again to  
be stable, and despite the general global economic slow-
down, the industry generated positive growth rates. key 
market growth drivers like the increasing elderly population 
have remained intact, and the decision to buy a hearing aid  
is only to a limited degree impacted by cyclical fluctuations.

Development in the USA as expected
with unit growth of 3% in 2011, the us hearing aid market, 
which is the world’s largest single market for hearing aids, 
was on par with our expectations of 2-4% global volume 
growth for the full year. once again, the us government’s 
demand through veterans affairs (va) exceeded growth in 
the commercial market, although growth in the second half-
year in the private sector of the us market was somewhat 
higher than growth in va. overall, demand by va rose by 4%, 
while unit growth in the private sector of the us market of 
just over 2% was slightly below the historic average. 

Higher growth in Europe
unit growth in europe was very satisfactory, outstripping 
growth in the us market as well as our expectations for glo-
bal market growth. major hearing aid markets such as ger-
many, france, italy and the netherlands all performed very 
well, and in 2011, switzerland recorded extraordinarily high 
growth, although this was mainly spurred by structural chan-
ges in the national hearing care sector. during the year, some 
investors and analysts have shown a certain interest in the 
debt-ridden economies of southern europe, but here too, the 
market for hearing aids has proved remarkably resistant to 
macro-economic trends.

Stable growth in the UK
after a number of years of erratic demand by the national 
health service (nhs) as well as the private-sector market, 
the british hearing aid industry saw stable growth in 2011  
in the region of 3%. the measures taken in recent years with 
a view to optimising the nhs have shortened public waiting 
lists and steadied unit growth development. both the private 
sector market and the nhs have contributed to growth in the 
uk in 2011. 

Japan back on the growth track
after a period of positive growth rates, the Japanese market 
saw falling sales in the first quarter of the year, a direct con-
sequence of the tragic tsunami that struck the country in 
march. despite the disaster, it was pleasing to see the quick 
return of the Japanese hearing aid market to normal conditi-
ons and to see favourable growth for the year as a whole, 
albeit on the low side of our expectations for global market 
growth. however, the Japanese market still has a lower de-
gree of penetration than most developed markets for hearing 
aids and therefore appears to hold unexploited potential. 

Global growth and price movement
in our estimation, global unit growth in 2011 was just under 
4% and sales of hearing aids are thought to have topped  
10 million units in 2011. 

the above description of market conditions relates to volume 
development and is partly based on statistics available for a 
number of main markets. the average selling price, on the 
other hand, is to a higher degree based on an estimate, due 
to the fact that only limited price and product mix informa-
tion is available. we estimate that in 2011, the average selling 
price dipped by 2-3%, a decline primarily due to product mix 
changes, with key market players launching attractive ranges 
of mid-priced and low-end products in the period. in terms of 
value, overall market growth was, in our estimation, 1-2%.

Innovation and product mix
innovation connected with high-end product launches will 
continue to enhance the product mix and raise average sel-
ling prices. consequently, development will depend heavily 
on manufacturers’ ability to offer specific benefits to end-
users. as product families mature and are renewed, manufac-
turers will see a cyclical trend in average selling prices and, 
depending on the launch rate and degree of innovation, these 
price cycles may coincide or conflict. in general, 2011 was an 
evolutionary year, because manufacturers focused on impro-
ving existing product portfolios without actually offering in- 
novation, a situation reflected in declining average selling 
prices.

reVIeW
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Hearing Devices 
Strong growth in all regions
in 2011, the group’s hearing device activities again recorded 
the industry’s highest growth and captured market shares in 
all geographic regions. in the wholesale business, total unit 
sales grew by 17%, and, disregarding the acquisition of otix 
global, the underlying business generated unit growth of 
14%. as a natural consequence of the present product cycle, 
with the group’s largest hearing aid brand oticon having in- 
troduced the market’s strongest product programme in the 
mid-priced and low-end segments and having captured sizea-
ble market shares in these segments, the group’s average 
selling price fell by 5% in 2011. the successful launch of the 
design product oticon intiga in september impacted the 
average selling price positively towards the end of the year, 
whereas rising sales to the nhs had an adverse effect on 
development in the second half-year. the hearing aid busi-
ness generated overall organic growth in revenues of 8%.  
if we look at our core business alone – wholesale of hearing 
aids – the group generated organic growth in consolidated 
revenues of slightly over 8%.

Oticon’s products and services
growth was partly driven by the comprehensive product range 
carried by oticon at the start of 2011, which was further re- 
inforced with the launch of the basic product oticon ino in  
february and the design product oticon intiga in september. 
however, product launches have not been the only drivers  
of this major growth: the breadth of its product portfolio and 
its enhanced profile have also bolstered oticon’s market po- 
sition. we also believe that the high service level, coupled 
with a strong image, makes oticon an attractive business 
partner and the industry brand that adds most value for cus- 
tomers. oticon’s stated goal to be a business partner that 
creates value for the customers is pivotal when we forge cus- 
tomer relations and a significant reason why oticon has once 
again managed to capture sizeable market shares.  

Oticon’s product launches
oticon ino is based on oticon’s second-generation wireless 
platform, rise 2, known from the successful agil and acto 
product families. Just a matter of weeks after its launch, ino 
was available on all markets, and because most of oticon’s 
customers were already familiar with its basic technology, 
ino rapidly became a commercial success as well, achieving 
high sales figures. 

the design product oticon intiga is the world’s smallest fully 
wireless rite hearing aid and is based on the successful rise 
2 platform. intiga offers the same strong audiological advan-
tages as the high-end instrument oticon agil, while being a 
full 33% smaller than the popular and discreet minirite mo- 
del introduced in connection with the launch of oticon agil  
in 2010. as well as featuring a cosmetically attractive shell, 
intiga offers fully wireless, binaural processing and the pos-
sibility of streaming multiple sound sources. dispensers and 
end-users alike have given intiga a very good reception due 
to its attractive design and uncompromising audiological 
features. intiga has thus significantly strengthened our posi-
tion in the design segment, which is especially popular with 
first-time users. being a cosmetically attractive alternative to 
the minirite models, intiga sales have however – as anticipa-
ted – triggered some cannibalisation of existing products.

the launch of oticon intigai in march 2012 will add yet an- 
other cosmetically attractive member to the intiga family. 
intigai, an iic (invisible inside the canal) instrument, fits in 
the auditory canal so snugly as to be invisible. custom-built 
for users, the instrument is shaped to follow the unique con- 
tours of a person’s auditory canal. although intigai will not be 
suited for all users, we look forward to offering a large num-
ber of our customers with mild to moderate hearing losses an 
invisible solution to remedy their hearing impairment. intigai 
will be available in two variants in the upper price category. 

Continued growth in Bernafon
thanks particularly to the performance of the basic product 
inizia 3|1, bernafon recorded impressive unit sales again in 
2011, noting a rise in sales to both independent dispensers 
and so-called volume customers, even though – as expected 
– shifts in product and channel mixes resulted in a lower ave- 
rage selling price. in the summer of 2011, bernafon launched 
chronos 9|7|5 in an array of styles for the mid-priced and 
high-end ranges. the launch of the rite version, chronos 
nano, in november has put bernafon in a good position at  
the start of 2012 to continue growth and enhance its product 
mix. all in all, bernafon has established a very strong and at- 
tractive product portfolio based on its in-house developed 

William Demant Holding A/S
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channelfree signal processing technology and a highly effec-
tive anti-feedback system.

Enhanced Sonic profile
at the end of november 2010, the group acquired the us 
hearing aid company otix global and its sonic brand. since 
then, much effort has been devoted to revitalising the busi-
ness and establishing a sustainable platform for the group’s 
third hearing aid brand. at end-2011, sonic had built a strong 
sales organisation both in its main market in the usa and 
internationally. under the slogan ”Everyday Sounds Better”, 
sonic has launched an enhanced profile, underpinning its 
future strategic aim to be a dynamic and innovative busi- 
ness partner under stable, long-term ownership. having 
intro-duced the iic instrument groove in spring 2011 and  
the rite instrument flip at the end of the year, sonic is in  
full swing updating its existing product portfolio and adding 
state-of-the-art wireless technology and effective signal 
processing to its features. we are confident that, with a  
sustainable foundation to shore up future growth and with 
continued optimisation of its product portfolio in 2012, sonic 
will also in future be an attractive business partner for new 
and exist-ing customers alike. 

NHS and VA
the group remains the largest supplier of hearing aids to  
the nhs in the uk, and although the nhs decided in august 
2010 to expand its network of suppliers, we successfully 
boosted our productive collaboration in 2011 and increased 
our market share with the nhs. sales to va in the usa have 
progressed satisfactorily, and at the end of 2011, our market 
share with va was 10%. 

Retail activities
corporate retail activities also performed very well in 2011, 
with organic growth above the global market growth rate. 
some of the reasons for this healthy growth are the adjust-
ment of our british retail business to changed market con-
ditions and focus on the operational optimisation of all of  
our retail activities in 2011. the hearinglife chain in the usa, 
which we took over in connection with the acquisition of otix 
global, has also undergone a positive transformation and 
emerged significantly stronger at the end of 2011.  

Profit in Oticon Medical
in the past year, oticon medical experienced strong sales 
growth, generating a profit from autumn 2011. all geographic 
regions contributed to growth, and particularly markets such 
as spain, germany, the netherlands and scandinavia contri-

buted significantly. as the subject of various studies during 
the year, oticon medical’s bone-anchored hearing systems 
were lauded for their high product and sound quality. users 
in practically every study conducted actually preferred oticon 
medical’s products. the launch of the more powerful sound 
processor ponto pro power in summer 2011 made oticon me- 
dical a one-stop supplier of bone-anchored hearing systems, 
enabling the company to offer solutions even for severely 
hearing-impaired users. the launch was highly satisfactory, 
and customers quickly embraced ponto pro power. as ponto 
and ponto pro were upgraded when ponto pro power was in- 
troduced, all the products in the ponto series are now fully 
up-to-date and offer a number of the advanced audiological 
advantages for which oticon’s hearing aids are so well-
known.

in the first half of 2012, oticon medical will launch a new 
implant system offering multiple innovative user benefits, 
including easier engagement, better stability and not least 
faster and simpler surgery. naturally, the new implant system 
is fully compatible with the existing product programme. 

Diagnostic Instruments
a global market leader in its field, diagnostic instruments 
generated highly satisfactory growth in local currency of 30% 
in 2011, organic growth accounting for 12 percentage points. 
the total global market for diagnostic equipment is believed 
to have grown by 2-3% in 2011, and diagnostic instruments 
has thus once again captured market shares and reinforced 
its position. 

this business activity comprises five audiometer companies: 
interacoustics in denmark, grason-stadler in the usa, ampli-
vox in the uk, maico in germany and the usa and medrx in 
the usa. diagnostic instruments is also to some degree in- 
volved in distribution to customers.  

the growth recorded by diagnostic instruments is based 
broadly on distribution and wholesale in most product cate-
gories, especially in impedance instruments and hearing aid 
fitting systems, such growth being attributable to the rapidly 
growing number of new hearing aid clinics. 

various acquisitions in 2011, including that of gordon n. 
stowe, strengthened the position of diagnostic instruments 
with respect to distribution in the usa, which is mainly hand-
led by so-called special instrument distributors (sids). in the 
past year, william demant also acquired a few strategically 
important niche manufacturers of diagnostic instruments, 
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including medrx, and we expect – on an ongoing basis – to 
be able to realise economies of scale as the acquired compa-
nies are integrated into the group. 

personal Communication
personal communication comprises phonic ear (including 
frontrow), which is involved in assistive listening devices 
and wireless sound systems, and our joint venture company 
sennheiser communications, which is a player in the market 
for headsets for both professional and private users in the 
cc&o (call center and office), pc and mobile phone seg-
ments.

personal communication realised healthy organic growth  
of 8% in total in 2011. this revenue increase is solely attri-
butable to the impressive double-digit growth recorded  
by sennheiser communications, which was also driven by 
strong growth in unified communication. in the same period, 
phonic ear and frontrow saw declining revenues due to harsh 
market conditions, which can, among other factors, be attri-
buted to the fact that today assistive devices for the hearing 
impaired are more often sold together with modern hearing 
aids than was the case previously, and also to the fact that 
the level of investment in the us educational sector was low 
in 2011, which has impacted sales of sound systems. 

Financial review 2011
revenues and foreign exchange
in the reporting period, consolidated revenues totalled dkk 
8,041 million, matching overall growth of almost 17%, organic 
growth accounting for about 9 percentage points. acquisi-
tions contributed to growth by 7 percentage points, and the 
positive exchange impact was well over 1 percentage point.

with 97% of consolidated sales being invoiced in foreign 
currencies, reported revenues are affected significantly by 
movements in corporate trading currencies. based on the 
distribution of consolidated sales in 2011 in the respective 
trading currencies, the graph below shows the monthly trend 
in the group’s currency basket. 

as a result of the unstable economic situation worldwide, the 
foreign exchange markets were impacted by considerable 
volatility through most of 2011. the moderately positive 
exchange impact on consolidated revenues is mainly attri-
butable to trends in the rates of the australian dollar and  
the Japanese yen, which rose by 7% and 5%, respectively, 
measured at average exchange rates in 2011 and 2010. with  
a fall of just under 5% on the average exchange rate, the us 
dollar pulled in the opposite direction.

the Group’s currency basket – indexed development

the year’s total exchange impact on revenues of about 1% is 
composed of a negative translation effect of close on 1% and 
a positive transaction effect of just under 2%. the latter is 
the net effect of realised gains or losses on forward exchange 
contracts used for hedging of exchange risks and recognised 
in the financial statements together with the revenues in for- 
eign currencies that such forward exchange contracts are de- 
signed to hedge.

revenues by business activity

 

in 2011, the group generated growth in north america of well 
over 18% measured in local currencies, with organic growth 
accounting for about half of this growth. again in 2011, we 
improved our market share with veterans affairs (va), and  
in terms of volume, sales at year-end accounted for about 
10% of total va demand. although all of our three hearing aid 
brands are represented with va, oticon still clearly accounts 
for the biggest slice of sales. with the acquisition of gordon 
n. stowe among others, diagnostic instruments has fortified 
its position in distribution in the usa. north america accounts 
for 38% of consolidated revenues.

in the reporting period, the group realised growth in reve-
nues in europe of close on 10% in local currencies, acquisiti-
ons accounting for approx. 2 percentage points. this impro-
vement is broadly founded in most european markets, includ- 
ing in particular our key markets germany and france. total 
sales in the so-called piigs countries (portugal, italy, ireland, 
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greece and spain) also developed fairly, which is quite satis-
factory in light of the considerable economic instability in 
these countries. europe accounts for well over 40% of total 
consolidated revenues.

revenues by business activity
 percentage change

dkk million 2011 2010 DKK local currency

hearing devices 7,075 6,098 16% 14%

diagnostic instruments 686 535 28% 30%

personal communication 280 259 8% 9%

total 8,041 6,892 17% 16%

 
revenues by geographic region

in 2011, corporate retail activities saw fair growth exceeding 
market growth. the improvement was, among other factors, 
driven by focused optimisation of certain aspects of our retail 
activities, such as the successful integration of the hearing-
life chain in the usa.

in 2011, diagnostic instruments generated revenues totalling 
dkk 686 million, corresponding to 30% growth in local cur-
rencies, with organic growth accounting for 12 percentage 
points. some of the organic growth drivers were an updated 
product programme and the strong positioning of our five 
brands. in other words, the rate of growth in diagnostic in-
struments was considerably higher than in the underlying 
market, which is thought to have grown by 2-3% in the same 
period. our stronger position in distribution in the usa, our 
acquisition of the diagnostic activities in otix global and our 
acquisition of a couple of small, but strategically important, 
niche manufacturers are the primary explanations for the 
acquired growth. in the reporting period, diagnostic instru-
ments accounted for almost 9% of consolidated revenues.

in the period under review, personal communication realised 
revenues of dkk 280 million, or a rise of well over 9% in terms 
of local currencies. as mentioned earlier, this improvement 
was solely driven by impressive sales in sennheiser commu-
nications, whereas phonic ear and frontrow – as a result of 

difficult market conditions – both experienced a drop in 
sales. in 2011, revenues generated by personal communi-
cation constituted just over 3% of consolidated revenues. 

Gross profits
consolidated gross profits rose by well over 16% to dkk 
5,777 million. the consolidated gross profit ratio was 71.8%, 
which matches the level of 2010 with a gross profit ratio of 
71.9%. the strong sale of mid-priced and low-end hearing 
aids resulted in a less favourable product mix and thus a 
lower average selling price, which also dampened our gross 
profit ratio. in the reporting period, sonic hearing aids were 
comparatively expensive to produce. we expect this to chan-
ge in future, when sonic unit costs should match the level of 
unit costs for our other hearing aid brands. growing sales of 
streamers and other wireless equipment for our state-of-the-
art hearing aids also had a negative impact on the gross pro- 
fit ratio, as these products typically do not sell at the same 
high gross profit ratios as do hearing aids. there is, however, 
also a positive side, because the gross profit ratio is boosted 
by falling unit costs thanks to the economies of scale achie-
ved by the group, as the number of hearing aids produced 
increases substantially. the gross profit ratio was improved 
by 0.7 percentage point from the first to the second half of 
2011, among other things due to the launch of oticon intiga.

Capacity costs
consolidated capacity costs in local currencies rose by 15%  
in 2011. two thirds of this increase is, however, directly attri-
butable to acquisitions, which means that the underlying 
business generated substantial organic sales growth without 
a correspondingly large increase in capacity costs. for staff 
outside denmark, we carried through an employee share pro- 
gramme in 2010, the cost of which was dkk 15 million. such 
programme was not carried through in 2011. 

Capacity costs 

 percentage change

dkk million 2011 2010 DKK local currency

r&d costs 633 615  3% 2%

distribution costs 2,959 2,471 20% 20%

administrative expenses 482 449 7% 8%

total 4,074 3,535 15% 15% 

research and development costs
consolidated research and development costs in local curren-
cies rose by a modest 2% in the reporting period, which is 
considerably below growth in revenues in the same period.  
in the past few years, we have optimised our research and 

review

p europe 

p  north america 

p  pacific rim 

p  asia 

p  other countries

41%

10%

4%

38%

7%



15

development effort and are now reaping the full benefits  
of the substantial investments made earlier in our unique 
wireless technology etc. if we consider total consolidated 
research and development costs since 2009, they have gone 
up by close on 10%. by way of comparison, we have boosted 
revenues by more than 40% in the same period.

Distribution costs
in terms of local currencies, distribution costs rose by 20%, 
two thirds of which being attributable to acquisitions. the 
rise in consolidated distribution costs, excluding acquisiti-
ons, is therefore below the organic growth in revenues. 2011 
has seen a continuous strengthening of corporate distribu-
tion activities, particularly in respect of diagnostic instru-
ments, hearing devices and bone-anchored hearing solu-
tions from oticon medical.

administrative expenses
in 2011, consolidated administrative expenses in local curren-
cies rose by 8%, a rise that is exclusively due to acquisitions.

profit for the year
in the period under review, operating profits (ebit) amounted 
to dkk 1,709 million, or an increase of close on 20% compa-
red with 2010. this substantial improvement is first and fore- 
most due to the high revenue growth generated by the group 
in the past year. the profit margin rose by 0.6 percentage 
point to 21.3%. if adjusted for our acquisition of otix global, 
the increase in the consolidated ebit margin would have been 
about 1 percentage point. we achieved an improvement in 
the profit margin of 1.1 percentage points from the first to the 
second half of 2011. some of the explanations for this gradual 
improvement of the ebit margin in the reporting period are 
that operating profit (ebit) in otix global improved during 
the period and that most of the non-recurring costs relating 
to the integration of otix global were expensed in the first 
half-year.

we aim to hedge changes in exchange rates by seeking to 
match positive and negative cash flows in the main curren-
cies and by entering into forward exchange contracts. with 
our current use of such contracts, forecast cash flows are 
hedged with a horizon of up to 24 months. 

realised forward exchange contracts are recognised in the 
income statement together with the items that such forward 
exchange contracts are designed to hedge. in reality, forward 
exchange contracts will typically be recognised together with 
revenues in foreign currencies relating to that particular 

hedge. in 2011, such forward exchange contracts realised a 
gain of dkk 26 million, thereby improving reported revenues.  

in addition to hedging by means of forward exchange con-
tracts, we raised loans in foreign currencies to balance out 
net receivables. 

at the end of the reporting period, the group had entered  
into forward exchange contracts at a contractual value of  
dkk 1,786 million (dkk 972 million in 2010) and at a market 
value of dkk -84 million (dkk 13 million in 2010). the major 
contracts hedged the follow-ing currencies at 31 december 
2011: 

Forward exchange contracts at 31 December 2011
Currency Hedging period Hedging rate

usd 10 months 547

Jpy 18 months 6.86

aud 10 months 546

gbp 14 months 865

cad 10 months 546

in 2011, consolidated net financial items amounted to dkk 
-103 million against dkk -116 million in 2010. the difference 
should be seen in the light of the group’s lower interest- 
bearing debt as well as a lower general interest rate level.

in the period under review, consolidated profits before tax 
amounted to dkk 1,606 million, or an increase of 22% on 
2010. tax on profits for the year is calculated at dkk 407 
million, matching an effective tax rate of 25.3% (24.8% in 
2010). earnings per share (eps) rose by 22% to dkk 20.6.  
at year-end, the company held 708,870 treasury shares.

at the annual general meeting, our board of directors will 
propose that all profits for the year be retained and trans-
ferred to the company’s reserves.

equity and capital
at 31 december 2011, consolidated equity amounted to dkk 
3,304 million (dkk 2,443 million at 31 december 2010), or an 
equity ratio of 43%.

the major increase in consolidated equity should be seen in 
the light of the growth in results and the fact that our share 
buyback programme was not resumed until the third quarter 
of 2011. as previously communicated, we seek to have a net 
interest-bearing debt of about dkk 1.5-2.0 billion. this level 
has been determined in order to enable the group to act 
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quickly and flexibly, should any attractive acquisition possi-
bilities arise, so we do not necessarily strive to have the high-
est possible level of debt. we did not carry through any capi-
tal increases in the reporting period.  

Consolidated equity
dkk million 2011 2010

equity at the beginning of the year 2,443 1,302

foreign currency transl. adjustment, subsidiaries 57 122

value adjustments of hedging instruments -84 21

profit for the year 1,199 988

other adjustments -311 10

equity at year-end 3,304 2,443

Consolidated cash flows
consolidated cash flows from operating activities totalled 
dkk 1,381 million in the reporting period, which is an in-
crease of as much as 67% compared with 2010. the size- 
able increase is mainly due to the improvement in operating 
profits (ebit) and a satisfactory development in the working 
capital. the group paid dkk 423 million in corporation tax in 
the period under review of which tax in denmark accounted 
for dkk 335 million.

free cash flows amounted to dkk 895 million, or a rise of  
dkk 401 million on 2010.

Cash flows by main items 
dkk million  2011 2010

profit for the year 1,199 988

cash flows from operating activities 1,381 826

cash flows from investing activities -486 -332

Free cash flows 895 494

acquisitions, interests and activities -330 -806

cash flows from financing activities -437 494

Cash flows for the year 128 182

cash flows for investing activities (excluding acquisitions) 
totalled dkk 486 million in the reporting period against dkk 
332 million in 2010. investments include property, plant and 
equipment worth dkk 382 million. for 2012, we expect a level 
of investment similar to the 2011 level.

in the period under review, the group acquired a number of 
companies, primarily distribution companies in the usa. the 
purchase consideration in cash for acquistions, interests and 
activities was dkk 330 million in the reporting period.

in 2011, other financing activities amounted to dkk -437 mil- 
lion (dkk 494 million in 2010), mainly relating to the buyback 
of shares worth dkk 301 million.

Balance sheet
at 31 december 2011, the consolidated balance sheet 
amounted to dkk 7,646 million, or a rise of 13% compared 
with the balance sheet total at year-end 2010. the increase  
in the balance sheet total includes a positive exchange im-
pact of about 0.4 percentage point. 

the change in the group’s goodwill, which at the end of 2011 
was dkk 1,976 million against dkk 1,660 million at the end  
of 2010, mainly relates to the acquisition of distribution 
companies in relation to hearing devices and diagnostic 
instruments. 

the group had lent a total of dkk 467 million to customers 
and business partners at 31 december 2011. this is a rise of 
approx. dkk 85 million on last year. this amount is expected 
to grow in 2012 as well. 

the relative increase in working capital in the period under 
review was lower than the growth in revenues and relates to 
a minor increase in consolidated inventories and trade recei-
vables, resulting from a higher level of activity. the limited 
increase in working capital is firstly due to an increasingly 
large number of corporate products being manufactured 
using the same platform families and secondly to the satis-
factory integration of acquired companies.   

in the period under review, the consolidated net interest-
bearing debt was reduced by dkk 321 million and amounted 
to dkk 1,548 million at year-end. the reduction in debt is the 
result of strong cash flows from operating activities, mode-
rate acquisition activities and the fact that we did not begin 
to buy back shares until the second half of 2011. the buyback 
of shares was resumed in august 2011 to ensure that the con- 
solidated net interest-bearing debt stays within the desired 
interval of dkk 1.5-2.0 billion.

non-realised losses on forward exchange contracts of dkk  
84 million contributed to a rise in non-realised losses on 
financial contracts. 

there have been no events to change the assessment of the 
annual report after the balance sheet date and until today.
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Directors and employees 
at our annual general meeting on 13 april 2011, lars nørby 
Johansen, peter foss, niels b. christiansen and thomas 
hofman-bang were re-elected for one year. at the employee 
election in april 2011, Jørgen møller nielsen and karin ubbe-
sen were elected and ole lundsgaard was re-elected – all for 
a term of four years. after the general meeting, the directors 
elected lars nørby Johansen chairman and peter foss deputy 
chairman of the board of directors. 

at year-end, the group had 7,748 employees (7,098 in 2010) 
of whom 1,582 were employed in denmark (1,592 in 2010). 
the influx of employees was mainly due to acquisitions.  
the average number of employees (full-time equivalent)  
was 7,392 in 2011 (6,318 in 2010). 

the board would like to take this opportunity to thank all 
corporate staff worldwide for their professionalism, dedica-
tion and diligence throughout 2011. their enthusiastic com-
mitment is the reason that we can once again show impres-
sive double-digit growth in revenues, and their work will also 
be the key to ensuring corporate growth in future. 

employee share ownership plans and incentive programmes
due to changed legislation, we will, as of 2012, no longer be 
able to offer salary sacrifice arrangements to our employees. 
since 2008, we have offered such arrangements to our em-
ployees liable to pay tax in denmark.

we have no share option programmes or similar schemes for 
corporate staff.

Knowledge resources
our aim for continuous growth in revenues and earnings is 
rooted in our mission statement, which says that we must 
strive for a high level of innovation through a flexible and 
knowledge-based organisation. the prerequisite for the 
group’s continued competitiveness is extensive audiological
know-how and a broad spectrum of competencies such as 
further developing wireless technology, designing integrated 
circuits for sophisticated analogue and digital processing of 
sound signals, developing software for optimum fitting of 
hearing aids, designing micro-amplifiers and related acoustic 
systems as well as developing and manufacturing microme-
chanic components.

the group’s products are made in cooperation with a wide 
range of specialists, each with thorough knowledge of their 

own fields, in-depth understanding of other professional 
areas and appreciation of the corporate approach. in order  
to utilise competencies and knowledge across the organisa-
tion, substantial resources are channelled into communica-
tion and knowledge sharing through a shared it platform,  
a high degree of openness and secondment of employees  
to other group companies.

our corporate development centre in denmark is a major 
catalyst for ongoing as well as future innovation projects. 
eriksholm, our corporate research centre, also plays a key 
role in our endeavours to always be at the forefront of de-
velopment and to deliver the most innovative solutions that 
bring end-users and hearing care professionals the most 
advantages.

the oticon Foundation
william demant holding’s ultimate shareholder, the oticon 
foundation, whose full name is William Demants og Hustru 
Ida Emilies Fond, was founded in 1957 by william demant, 
son of the company’s founder hans demant. its primary goal 
is to safeguard and expand the william demant group’s bu- 
siness and provide support for various commercial and cha-
ritable purposes with particular focus on the field of audio-
logy. on 10 november 2011, the oticon foundation trans-
ferred the majority of its shares in william demant holding  
to its wholly owned subsidiary william demant invest (see 
company announcement no. 2011-09). subsequently, charita-
ble tasks will be managed by the foundation and commercial 
activities by william demant invest. voting rights and decisi-
ons in respect of buying and selling william demant holding 
shares will remain with the oticon foundation.

in accordance with the oticon foundation’s investment stra-
tegy, the foundation’s investments – apart from shares in 
william demant holding – also include other assets, as the 
foundation can make direct, active investments in companies 
which, in their business model and structure, resemble wil-
liam demant holding, but are outside its strategic sphere of 
interest. the foundation has made a management agreement 
on a commercial arm’s length basis with william demant hol- 
ding to the effect that the latter will manage the investments 
made through william demant invest.

sound liquidity and a satisfactory free flow are important  
to obtain fair pricing of our shares at nasdaQ omx copen-
hagen. in autumn 2005, the oticon foundation therefore 
announced that in future, it would strive to retain a direct  
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or indirect ownership interest of 55-60% against previously 
60-65% through, if necessary, the current sale of shares in 
the market. any current sale of shares by the foundation is 
independent of any buyback of shares. 

outlook for 2012
with volume growth rates in the global hearing aid market  
of 2-4% and flat to slightly negative development in average 
selling prices, the global market for hearing aids is estimated 
to show low single-digit growth in 2012. 

for 2012, we expect the group to continue to improve its 
market shares. consolidated revenues for 2012 are thus fore- 
cast to grow by 5-9% of which acquisitions are estimated to 
account for 1-3 percentage points.

based on average exchange rates to date, we expect move-
ments in exchange rates to have a slightly positive impact on 
consolidated revenues in 2012. the full effect of such move-
ments is, however, postponed due to the group’s foreign 
currency hedging.

consolidated operating profits (ebit) are thus expected to 
continue to grow in 2012 compared with the level realised  
in 2011.

the group’s effective tax rate is estimated at 25-26% in 2012. 

as we expect to continue to generate substantial cash flows 
from operating activities in 2012, as our level of investments 
is expected to match that of 2011, and as our level of acquisi-
tions is expected to be moderate, we are planning to continue 
our buyback of shares in 2012. through our share buyback 
programme, we will thus continue to channel any excess cash 
flows back to our shareholders while maintaining the level of 
consolidated net interest-bearing debt of dkk 1.5-2.0 billion.
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Capital
at 31 december 2011, the company’s authorised share capital 
was nominally dkk 58,349,875 divided into as many shares 
of dkk 1. the shares are not divided into classes and have the 
same rights.

William Demants og Hustru Ida Emilies Fond (the oticon 
foundation) has notified the company that at 31 december 
2011, the foundation – directly or indirectly – held approx. 
60% of the share capital and has previously communicated 
its intention to maintain an ownership interest of 55-60% of 
william demant holding’s share capital. fidelity international 
holds 5-10% of the share capital.

about half of the group’s employees are shareholders in the 
company. all members of the board of directors and execu-
tive board are shareholders in the company. shares held by 
employees and by members of the board of directors and the 
executive board account for just under 2% of the total share 
capital. 

in 2011, the company resumed its share buyback programme, 
which was temporarily suspended in autumn 2008, and has 
in 2011 bought 708,870 treasury shares at a total price of dkk 
301 million. in 2011, the company has not carried out any ca- 
pital increases. at year-end 2011, the company held 708,870 
treasury shares, corresponding to 1.2% of the share capital.

Share information
dkk  2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

highest share price 583 478 396 480 495

lowest share price 407 158 167 352 352

share price, year-end 471 218 393 414 478

market capitalisation* 28,063 12,718 22,894 24,173 27,397

average no. of shares**  60.62 58.77 58.31 58.35 58.24

no. of shares, year-end** 59.58 58.31 58.35 58.35 57.64

treasury shares, year-end*** 1.406 0.641 0.606 0 0.709 
 
*  DKK million excluding treasury shares.
** Million shares excluding treasury shares.
*** Million shares. 
 

Specification of movements in share capital 
dkk 1,000  2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

share capital at 1.1. 63,323  60,986 58,956 58,956 58,350

capital increase 0 0 0 0 0

capital reduction -2,337 -2,030 0 -606 0

Share capital at 31.12. 60,986 58,956 58,956 58,350 58,350

powers relating to share capital 
the shareholders in general meeting have empowered the 
directors to increase the share capital by up to nominally 
1,179,527 in connection with the issue of employee shares  
at a subscription price to be determined by the directors, 
however minimum dkk 1.05 per share of dkk 1. the em-
powerment is valid until 1 January 2016. until 1 January  
2016, the directors have been authorised to increase the 
share capital by up to dkk 6,664,384 for other purposes.  
the subscription price will be determined by the directors. 

until the next annual general meeting, the directors have 
been authorised to have the company acquire treasury  
shares at a nominal value of up to 10% of the share capital. 
the purchase price may, however, not deviate by more than 
10% from the price listed on nasdaQ omx copenhagen.

Dividend
at the general meeting, the directors will, as in prior years, 
propose that all profits for the 2011 financial year be re-
tained. the directors have previously decided that any ex-
cess liquidity is first and foremost to be used for the conti-
nuous purchase of treasury shares. as mentioned earlier, we 
aim to keep our interest-bearing debt at dkk 1.5-2.0 billion 
and expect to use future free cash flows (with the deduction 
of acquisitions) for the purchase of treasury shares.

Insider rules
the group’s insider rules and in-house procedures comply 
with the provisions of the Danish Securities Trading Act un-
der which the executive board and the board of directors and 
their related parties are obliged to inform the company of 
their transactions with the company’s securities with a view 
to subsequent publication and reporting to the Danish Finan-
cial Supervisory Authority. in 2011, there was one such an-
nouncement. such announcements can be seen on the com-
pany’s website under Investor, Announcements. in its inter- 
nal rules, the company has chosen to operate an insider re- 
gister containing a relatively large number of persons, inclu-
ding leading staff members, who – through their attachment 
to the company – may possess price-affecting knowledge of 
the group’s internal affairs. persons entered in the insider 
register may only trade in company shares for a period of six 
weeks following publication of the annual report and the inte-
rim report through nasdaQ omx copenhagen. such persons 
are also obliged to inform the company of their transactions 
in company shares. 
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Ir policy and investor information 
it is the aim of william demant holding to ensure a steady 
and consistent flow of information to share market players 
to promote a basis for the fair pricing of company shares – 
pricing that at any time reflects corporate strategies, finan-
cial capabilities and prospects for the future. the flow of 
information will contribute to a reduction of the company-
specific risk associated with investing in william demant 
holding shares, thereby leading to a reduction of the com-
pany’s cost of capital. 

we aim to reach this goal by continuously providing relevant, 
correct and adequate information in our company announce-
ments. the company also maintains an active and open dia-
logue with analysts as well as current and potential investors. 
through presentations, individual meetings and participation 
in investor conferences, we aim to maintain an ongoing dia-
logue with a broad section of share market players. in 2011, 
we held approx. 420 investor meetings and presentations. 

the company also uses its website, www.demant.com, for 
communication with the share market. relaunched in 2011, 
the website provides more information about the group and 
its business activities. 

investors and analysts may also contact stefan ingildsen, 
senior vice president, finance; søren b. andersson, vice 
president, ir; or morten lehmann nielsen, ir manager, by 
phone +45 3917 7100 or by e-mail to william@demant.com. 

Company announcements in 2011
 9 march annual report 2010

 16 march notice annual general meeting

 13 april annual general meeting

 12 may interim information, fi rst quarter 2011

 16 may stalking horse bid for the acquisition of assets

   in hearusa inc.

 1 august expiry of agreement on transfer of assets

   in hearusa inc.

 19 august interim report 2011

 10 november interim information, third quarter 2011

 10 november transfer of shares from the oticon foundation

   to william demant invest a/s

 22 december financial calendar 2012

 28 december notifi cation of share purchases by senior

   executives

Financial calendar 2012
 28 february deadline for submission of agenda items for

   the annual general meeting

 29 february annual report 2011 

 11 april annual general meeting

 10 may interim information, fi rst quarter 2012

 16 august interim report 2012

 7 november interim information, third quarter 2012

annual general meeting
the annual general meeting will be held on wednesday, 
11 april 2012, at 4 p.m. at the company’s head office 
kongebakken 9, 2765 smørum, denmark.

Development in share price 
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risk management activities in the william demant group  
first and foremost focus on the business-related and finan-
cial risks to which the company is fairly likely to be exposed. 

in general, we act in a stable market with a limited number  
of players. in normal circumstances, the risks to which the 
company is exposed do not change on the short term. the 
financial crisis we have experienced in recent years does not 
seem to have changed this picture significantly, and the de- 
velopment in the demand for group products has thus been 
stable. in connection with the preparation of the group’s 
strategic, budgetary and annual plans, the board of direc-
tors considers the risks identified in these processes.

Business risks
the major risks to which the william demant group may be 
exposed are of a business nature – be they risks within the 
company’s control or external risks due to, for instance, the 
behaviour of the competition. 

the market in which we act is a highly product-driven market. 
the group’s significant research and development initiatives 
help underpin our market position. it is therefore also vital in 
the long term to maintain the group’s innovative edge and to 
attract the most qualified and competent staff. product risks 
relate mainly to delays in connection with product launches, 
but due to our constant focus on all links in the value chain, 
such delays rarely occur. furthermore, we closely monitor  
the supply situation and seek to ensure that we always have 
an inventory level that can counter any interruptions in pro-
duction.

taking out, protecting and keeping patents in the hearing  
aid industry are indeed complicated processes. we therefore 
currently develop and maintain our competences in this area. 
the william demant group is involved in a few disputes. in 
the patent case against american etg, the judge in June 2011 
made a decision in respect of the jury’s verdict from 2008 at 
the u.s. district court of delaware, which at the time found 
that william demant had violated two patents. the judge up- 
held the verdict in respect of one patent and reversed the ver- 
dict in respect of the other patent. we maintain that we have 
not violated any of etg’s patents, and we have therefore ap- 
pealed the decision to the u.s. court of appeals for the fede-
ral circuit.

we have found that there is no need for adjustment of our 
provisions, i.e. we have provided about dkk 94 million for 
payment of any damages and legal costs. apart from the 

provision relating to the etg case, which affected the income 
statement negatively in 2007, management is of the opinion 
that other disputes do not or will not significantly affect the 
group’s financial position. we seek to make adequate provi-
sions for legal proceedings. it is our policy to take out patents 
for our own groundbreaking innovations and currently moni-
tor that third-party products do not infringe on our patents 
and that our products do not infringe on third-party patents.

Financial risks
financial risk management concentrates on exchange rate, 
interest rate, credit and liquidity risks as well as safeguarding 
against losses on property, plant and equipment. financial 
risk management initiatives aim to protect the group against 
potential losses and make sure that management’s forecasts 
for the current year are only to a limited extent affected by 
fluctuations in the surrounding world – be they fluctuations in 
exchange rates or interest rate levels or in the form of direct 
damage to group assets. it is corporate policy to exclusively 
hedge commercial risks and not to undertake any financial 
transactions of a speculative nature.

exchange rate risks
the group seeks to hedge against any exchange rate risks 
through forward exchange contracts and other hedging in-
struments. currency hedging gives management the oppor-
tunity – and necessary time – to redirect business strategies 
in the event of persistent changes in foreign exchange rates. 
the group aims to hedge such changes in foreign exchange 
rates by seeking to match positive and negative cash flows in 
the main currencies as much as possible and by entering into 
forward exchange contracts. our current use of such con-
tracts will hedge estimated cash flows with a horizon of up to 
24 months.

effect on eBIt, 5% positive exchange rate impact* 

(dkk million)

usd
gbp
cad
aud
Jpy

*  Estimated, on a non-hedged basis, i.e. the total annual exchange rate 
impact excluding forward exchange contracts.

rISK ManaGeMent aCtIVItIeS

2011

+35
+10
+10
+10
+5

2010

+30
+10
+10
+10
+5
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the exchange rate risk has been calculated on the basis of a 
simple addition of the ebits of group enterprises in local 
currencies. whereas the addition of ebits includes all group 
enterprises, the net exchange flow is identical to the flow in 
oticon a/s. we estimate that approx. 90% of all currency 
exchange is made in oticon a/s and that the analysis therefore 
provides a true and fair presentation of the flow in the entire 
group. the exchange flow includes actual exchange transacti-
ons as well as changes in net receivables (debtors, creditors 
and bank balances). 

the below table shows the impact on the year’s operating pro-
fit (ebit) and consolidated equity given a change of 5% in the 
currencies with the largest exposures.

effect on equity, 5% positive exchange rate impact

(dkk million)

cad
usd
aud
gbp
Jpy

Interest rate risks
hedging interest rate risks on corporate loans is corporate 
policy if we find that interest payments can be hedged at a 
satisfactory level compared with hedging costs. hedging is 
generally done through interest rate swaps, with floating-rate 
loans being converted into fixed-rate loans. currently, the 
group has limited debts compared with the volume of corpo-
rate activities.

based on the net debt at the end of the 2011 financial year, a 
rise of 1 percentage point in the general interest rate level will 
cause an increase in consolidated annual interest expenses 
before tax of approx. dkk 1 million (approx. dkk 2 million in 
2010).

Credit risks
corporate credit risks relate primarily to trade receivables. 
our customer base is fragmented, so credit risks only involve 
minor losses on individual customers. together, our ten 
largest customers account for less than 10% of total consoli-
dated revenues. we therefore estimate that we have no major 
credit exposure, which is supported by our track record of 
insignificant previous losses on bad debts. when underta-

king lending transactions with customers or business part-
ners, we require that they give security in their particular 
businesses. maximum credit risks relating to trade receivab-
les match their carrying values. the group has no major 
deposits in financial institutions, for which reason the credit 
risk of such deposits is considered to be low.

liquidity risks
the group aims to have sufficient cash resources to be able 
continuously to take appropriate steps in case of unforeseen 
fluctuations in cash outflows. we have access to non-utilised 
credit facilities, and the liquidity risk is therefore considered 
to be low. in addition, we have committed loan facilities with 
our two primary banks in the amount of dkk 1.2 billion. we 
are of the opinion that the group has a strong cash flow and 
satisfactory credit rating to secure current inflow of working 
capital and funds for any potential acquisitions. the group 
has not failed to perform or defaulted on any loan agree-
ments in the 2011 or 2010 financial years.

Financial reporting process and internal control
once a year, we carry through a very detailed planning and 
budgetary process, and any deviations from the plans and 
budgets resulting from this process are carefully monitored 
month by month. in terms of sales and costs, month-by-
month development is very similar, so with the repetitive 
nature of our business, even minor deviations will become 
visible fairly quickly. 

to ensure high quality in the group’s financial reporting 
systems, the board of directors and executive board have 
adopted policies, procedures and guidelines for financial 
reporting and internal control to which the subsidiaries and 
reporting units must adhere, including:

•  Continuous follow-up on results achieved compared to the 
approved budgets 

•  Policies for IT, insurance, cash management, procurement 
etc.

•  Reporting instructions as well as reporting and finance 
manuals 

the responsibility for maintaining sufficient and efficient 
internal control and risk management in connection with the 
financial reporting lies with the executive board. 

the board of directors has assessed the group’s existing 
control environment and concluded that it is adequate and 
that there is no need for setting up an internal audit function.

2011

+30
+25
+10
+5
+2

2010

+30
+15
+10
+5
+1
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Safeguarding corporate assets
management continuously seeks to minimise any financial 
consequences of damage to corporate assets, including any 
operating losses incidental to potential damage. we current-
ly invest in security and surveillance systems to prevent da- 
mage and to minimise such damage, should it arise. major 
risks, which cannot be adequately minimised, are identified 
by the company’s management who will on a continuous 
basis ensure that appropriate insurance policies are taken 
out under the group’s global insurance programme admini-
stered by recognised and credit-rated insurance brokers, and 
that such insurances are taken out with insurance companies 
with high credit ratings. the group’s insurance programme 
has deductible clauses in line with normal market terms. the 
directors review the company’s insurance policies once a 
year, including the coverage of identified risks. 

the directors are regularly briefed on developments in identi-
fied risks. the purpose of this reporting is to keep the direc-
tors fully updated and facilitate corrective action to minimise 
such risks.
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our corporate responsibility
the high standards we set for ourselves and for our ethical 
business conduct form an integral part of our tradition and 
corporate culture. as a result, we find it natural to take on 
social and environmental challenges over and beyond our 
natural sphere of interest. 

Global Compact
in spring 2011, we submitted our first communication of pro- 
gress to the un global compact, which we joined in 2010, 
pledging us to globally promote principles on human rights, 
rights at work, environmental protection and anti-corruption. 
global compact also serves as a globally recognised frame-
work based on which we can systematise our csr efforts and 
report the results achieved. the communication of progress 
is published on the un global compact website as well as on 
our own website. 

our environmental awareness 
reporting to the carbon disclosure project (cdp) is one way 
for a company to benchmark its environmental footprint. we 
have been reporting in this way on the group’s co2 emissi-
ons and climate strategy since 2008. no data for the 2011 
calendar year is available as yet, but a look at the develop-
ment from 2009 to 2010 reveals, according to our reporting, 
that emissions in the countries in which we manufacture our 
products have risen only by about 5% compared to a rise in 
revenues of approx. 20%. co2 emissions per employee are 
calculated at 3.3 tonnes per year, which is low for a produc-
tion company. 

our social responsibility
responsibility also means giving more than is necessarily 
expected or dictated by legislation. in this context, it is worth 
mentioning that our majority shareholder, William Demants 
og Hustru Ida Emilies Fond, also known as the oticon foun-
dation, donates dkk 60-80 million annually to social, cultural 
and scientific causes. in 2011, the foundation granted dkk 63 
million of which dkk 13 million went to educational instituti-
ons and research projects in the audiological field, an area 
covered by the statutes of the foundation. 

our focus
interest in our csr effort has risen moderately in recent years, 
and we expect this trend to continue. our affiliation with the 
oticon foundation will also in future ensure that our growth 
will benefit society through various donations. we would 
mention that in early 2012, the oticon foundation has de-
cided – through william demant invest a/s – to invest dkk 
1.7 billion in a wind farm off the german north sea coast. 
from 2015, the wind farm is to produce ”green” power match-
ing the power consumption of 285,000 households. the own- 
ership interest of william demant invest will constitute about 
18%, and its share of the wind farm will produce more than 
five times the group’s total power consumption.

our csr principles and policies as well as more detailed 
information on our work in this area are available on our 
website under CSR: www.demant.com/csrreport.cfm.

Corporate SoCIal reSponSIBIlItY
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our work on corporate governance is an ongoing process, 
and the board of directors and the executive board regularly 
assess whether their findings give rise to amendments to our 
articles of association or managerial processes. 

we take our point of departure in the Corporate Governance 
Recommendations, which are part of the disclosure require-
ments laid down by nasdaQ omx copenhagen. drawn up by 
the Committee on Corporate Governance under the auspices 
of nasdaQ omx copenhagen, the recommendations were 
most recently updated in august 2011. the board of directors 
determines the extent to which the company should imple-
ment such recommendations, and we comply with 74 out of 
79 recommendations. the deviations from the five recom-
mendations that we do not comply with are wellfounded. a 
complete schematic presentation of the recommendations, 
Statutory report on enterprise management, cf. section 107b 
of the Danish Financial Statements Act, is available on our 
website under Corporate Governance: www.demant.com/
governance.cfm. 

through our reference to the website, we meet the require-
ment that the annual report review is to include a statutory 
report on enterprise management, cf. section 107 b of the 
Danish Financial Statements Act. since we attach great im-
portance to this topic in our daily operation of the company, 
we find it relevant to accentuate a number of significant as- 
pects and supplementary information on corporate gover-
nance in our group. 

Shareholders’ role and interaction with 
Management
we communicate on an ongoing basis with our shareholders 
at the annual general meeting and through shareholder meet-
ings, investor presentations, e-mail, telephone, our website, 
webcasts, capital market days, the annual report, company 
announcements etc. and communicate to a great extent in 
both danish and english. 

as at 29 february 2012, our principal shareholder, William 
Demants og Hustru Ida Emilies Fond (the oticon foundation) 
– directly or indirectly – holds approx. 60% of the share capi-
tal and votes in william demant holding a/s. the oticon 
foundation has a statute according to which it is obliged  
to work towards keeping control of the company, for which 
reason the probability of takeover attempts is considered 
small.

openness and transparency
all information essential for the assessment of the company 
and its activities by shareholders and financial markets is 
published as promptly as possible in compliance with the 
rules of the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority and 
nasdaQ omx. 

our website is in english only. we have made this choice  
of language based on our knowledge of the stakeholders 
seeking information via the internet. however, most of the 
documents that can be downloaded from our website are 
available in both danish and english. 

in compliance with the Danish Securities Trading Act, we 
publish annual and interim reports. in the time span between 
such reports, we publish quarterly information rather than 
actual quarterly reports. in our opinion, actual quarterly re- 
ports will not promote a better understanding of our activi-
ties, as the quarterly information provides an adequate ac-
count of the important events and transactions that have 
taken place during the period in question. furthermore,  
such information gives a general outline of the group and  
its financial position and results. 

competitive aspects are important reasons for our decision 
not to draw up actual quarterly reports: the hearing aid in-
dustry consists of six major players of which only three are 
listed companies. the unlisted companies do not publish 
such information at all or only to a very limited extent, and  
of these companies, only one publishes actual quarterly 
reports.

Duties, responsibilities, composition and 
organisation of the Board of Directors
the board of directors is responsible for the overall strategic 
management as well as the financial and managerial super-
vision of the company, and it currently evaluates the work  
of the executive board as for instance reflected in the annual 
plan and budget prepared for the board of directors. the 
board’s duties and responsibilities are set out in its rules  
of procedure, and the executive board’s duties and respon-
sibilities are provided in a set of instructions. such rules of 
procedure and instructions are revised once a year. 

currently, the board has seven directors: four directors 
elected by the shareholders at the general meeting and  
three directors elected by staff in denmark. shareholders 

Corporate GoVernanCe
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elect directors for a term of one year and staff elect directors 
for a term of four years. staff-elected directors are elected in 
accordance with the provisions of the Danish Companies Act. 
the next staff election will take place in 2015. a director 
cannot be re-elected once he or she has reached the age of 
70. at least half the directors elected by shareholders at the 
annual general meeting are independent. 

as at 29 february 2012, all directors are shareholders in the 
company holding shares as follows (including movements in 
2011): lars nørby Johansen, chairman of the board of direc-
tors 3,768 shares (unchanged); peter foss, deputy chairman 
2,588 shares (unchanged); niels b. christiansen 502 shares 
(unchanged); thomas hofman-bang 2,500 shares (unchan-
ged); ole lundsgaard 1,056 shares (movement in 2011: +137); 
Jørgen møller nielsen 55 shares (unchanged); karin ubbesen 
132 shares (unchanged).

Board committees/audit committee 
our board of directors have discussed the general framework 
in respect of the role and function of the mandatory audit 
committee and decided to let the entire board of directors 
handle this task. the directors have taken our business 
activities, the size of the board and the limited scope of 
estimates and assessments in relation to financial reporting 
into account. the stipulation that no directors may be mem-
bers of the executive board – in case the entire board of 
directors acts as the audit committee – is satisfied. 

in 2011, the audit committee has held three meetings in con-
nection with the ordinary board meetings. 

the terms of reference of the audit committee are available 
on our corporate website under About us, Management and 
Board of Directors. 

apart from the audit committee, no independent board com-
mittees are set up at the moment, as the board deems such 
committees unnecessary, given the company’s business 
activities and the size of the board.

Board of Directors’ and executive Board’s
remuneration 
once a year, the board of directors assesses the remunera-
tion paid to directors and the executive board. the basis for 
the assessment is a competitive and reasonable level that 
will attract and retain the most suitable and competent candi-
dates. 

directors’ fees consist of a fixed basic fee per director. the 
chairman’s fee is determined to be three times the basic fee 
and the deputy chairman’s fee is determined to be twice the 
basic fee. the executive board too receives a fixed fee. con-
sequently, such fees do not include any variable bonuses. in 
the opinion of the board of directors, the fixed fee reflects a 
competitive remuneration of the board of directors and the 
executive board. 

for the president & ceo, a termination and resignation clause 
in line with normal market terms has been agreed upon. if the 
company terminates the employment, the notice is 12 
months with one month’s extension for each calendar year of 
employment, however a maximum of 30 months. since the 
president & ceo has been employed with the company since 
1992, the notice on the part of the company was 30 months 
at 31 december 2011. if the president & ceo terminates the 
employment himself, the notice is six months. moreover, the 
president & ceo is entitled to a seniority bonus, matching 
one year’s salary for every four years of employment after 
2005. in the consolidated financial statements, this seniority 
bonus is recognised as a defined benefit plan commitment 
that will be paid out on termination of his employment.

audit
the audit fee is agreed with the auditor prior to a financial 
year and is subject to approval by the audit committee. the 
auditor may be asked to perform non-audit services. such 
services are to be agreed with the company’s executive 
board in each case. if the fee to be paid for non-audit ser-
vices exceeds the ordinary audit fees, such fee is subject to 
approval by the board of directors.

risk management 
all major risks are on an ongoing basis discussed by the 
board of directors, based among other things on the annual 
plan and budget drawn up for the board of directors, please 
see Risk management activities on page 22.

recommendations for more women on supervisory 
boards – “operation Chain reaction”
in december 2010, the company signed the danish minister 
for gender equality’s recommendations to danish businesses 
(Operation Chain Reaction) that efforts be made to increase 
the number of women on supervisory boards.

for more than 25 years, except for a brief period of one and a 
half years, the board of directors of william demant holding 
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has included at least one female member. board members 
elected by the general meeting are up for election every year, 
although the individual board members are traditionally re- 
elected and sit on the board for an extended number of years. 
this ensures consistency and maximum insight into the con-
ditions prevailing within the company and the industry. all 
four board members up for election by the general meeting 
were re-elected in 2011, so the percentage of female board 
members remains unchanged. of the three board members 
elected by the employees in the 2011 employee election, one 
man and one woman were replaced by another man and an- 
other woman.

the next time a current board member elected by a general 
meeting leaves the board, special emphasis will be put on 
nominating women as new candidates. the candidates’ pro-
fessional competencies will, however, always be the para-
mount consideration.

the composition of the board focuses on ensuring the right 
combination of competencies and experience, including 
managerial experience from international and, preferably, 
listed companies. the selection process is thorough, and 
nominations are submitted for approval by the company’s 
majority shareholder. 

as regards efforts to boost the pool of female board candi-
dates, group companies are focusing more strongly on pro-
moting more women in executive positions. to this end, the 
group has established a diversity policy as well as specific 
initiatives aimed at even better ensuring equal terms bet-
ween the genders when it comes to both employment and 
promotion. specific initiatives will be launched on an ongoing 
basis to follow up on this development.

amendments to articles of association 
if amendments to articles other than those listed in section 
107 of the Danish Public Companies Act are to be adopted,  
at least 51% of the share capital must be represented at the 
general meeting, and the resolution must be approved by a 
two-thirds majority of the votes cast and of the represented 
share capital, which is entitled to vote. if 51% of the share 
capital is not represented at the general meeting, but two 
thirds of the votes cast and of the represented share capital, 
which is entitled to vote, have approved the proposal, the 
board shall call an extraordinary general meeting within 14 
days at which meeting the proposal may be adopted by a 
two-thirds majority of the votes cast, irrespective of the  
size of the share capital represented.

corporate governance
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lars nørby Johansen, Chairman
(born 1949)
Joined the board in 1998 and was most 
recently re-elected in 2011 for one year. 
because of his seat on the board for 
more than 12 years, he is not considered 
an independent director.

the danish growth council, chairman
danish growth capital, chairman of the board 
falck a/s and one subsidiary, chairman of the board
georg Jensen a/s, chairman of the board
university of southern denmark, chairman of the board
dong energy a/s, deputy chairman of the board
the rockwool foundation, deputy chairman of the board
arp-hansen hotel group a/s, director
codan a/s and one subsidiary, director
index award a/s, director

lars nørby Johansen has a degree in social sciences. his 
strengths include extensive international experience as a 
corporate manager and a board member in multiple lines of 
business as well as profound knowledge of the challenges 
resulting from globalisation. he is also well versed in the 
political aspects of business.

peter Foss, Deputy Chairman (born 1956)
Joined the board in 2007 and was most 
recently re-elected in 2011 for one year.
because of his seat on the boards of the 
oticon foundation and william demant 
invest a/s (the company’s principal 
shareholder), he is not considered an 
independent director.

foss a/s, chairman of the board and director in one 
subsidiary
n. foss & co. a/s, deputy chairman of the board
the oticon foundation, deputy chairman of the board
william demant invest a/s, director
a.r. holding af 1999 a/s, director

peter foss is a master of science in engineering from the 
technical university of denmark (dtu) and also holds a di-
ploma degree in finance and credit law. he has extensive 
managerial experience from global, market-leading, indu-
strial companies having extensive product development. 
in addition, he has directorship experience from different 
lines of business. 

niels B. Christiansen (born 1966)
Joined the board in 2008 and was most 
recently re-elected in 2011 for one year. 
he is considered an independent direc-
tor.

danfoss a/s, president & ceo and directorships in six 
subsidiaries
axcel a/s, chairman of the board
danske bank a/s, deputy chairman of the board
sauer danfoss inc., deputy chairman of the board

niels b. christiansen is a master of science in engineering 
from the technical university of denmark (dtu) and holds 
an mba from insead in france. his experience with interna-
tional management of major, global, industrial, hi-tech cor-
porations is comprehensive. in addition, he has directorship 
experience from different lines of business. 

thomas Hofman-Bang (born 1964)
Joined the board in 2009 and was most 
recently re-elected in 2011 for one year. 
he is chairman of the audit committee. 
he is considered an independent direc-
tor.

nkt holding a/s, president & ceo and chairman of the 
board in three subsidiaries
neurosearch a/s, chairman of the board
danish committee on corporate governance, member

thomas hofman-bang is a master of science in business 
economics and auditing and a state-authorised public ac-
countant. he has considerable experience in the manage-
ment of large, global, industrial corporations, including spe-
cial competencies within economic and financial affairs. in 
addition, he has directorship experience from different lines 
of business.

BoarD oF DIreCtorS
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Karin ubbesen (born 1961)
staff-elected director. 
Joined the board in 2011 for a term of 
four years.

3f thy-mors, director
oticon a/s, shop steward, staff-elected director since 2007

karin ubbesen is employed at the group’s factory in thisted, 
denmark, as a fitter and has been with the company since 
1987.

Jørgen Møller nielsen (born 1962)
staff-elected director.
Joined the board in 2011 for a term of 
four years.

deputy chairman of the local business group under the 
danish society of engineers (ida)

Jørgen møller nielsen is a master of science in engineering 
(electrical engineering) and also holds a diploma in business 
administration (organisation and strategy). he is project ma-
nager within microelectronics at the group’s amplifier factory 
in ballerup, denmark, and has been with the company since 
2001. 

ole lundsgaard, (born 1969)
staff-elected director.
Joined the board in 2003 and was most 
recently re-elected in 2011 for a term of 
four years.

interacoustics a/s, staff-elected director since 2003, deputy 
chairman of the joint consultative committee 

ole lundsgaard was trained as an electronics mechanic at 
the university of odense, institute of biology. he is technical 
product manager within diagnostic instruments and has 
been employed with interacoustics a/s since 1993. 

age limit for Directors
in compliance with the company’s articles of association, 
directors must resign from the board no later than at the 
first general meeting following their 70th birthday.

Directors’ fees
in 2011, the basic fee of a director amounted to dkk 300,000. 
the chairman’s fee is determined to be three times the basic 
fee and the deputy chairman’s fee is determined to be twice 
the basic fee.

there is no separate fee for the audit committee because the 
committee’s work is covered by the approved directors’ fees.

evaluation of the Board
once a year, the chairman of the board evaluates the board’s 
work through individual interviews with the directors after 
which he gives feedback to the entire board.

in connection with the evaluation in december 2011, the di-
rectors expressed their great satisfaction with the manner 
in which the board works, which also applies to their coop-
eration with management. also, it is the board’s opinion that 
between them, the directors have the right competences.

Board meetings in 2011
in 2011, the board of directors convened on five occasions.
in 2011, the audit committee convened on three occasions 
in connection with ordinary board meetings.

annual general meeting
in 2011, the annual general meeting took place on 13 april.

auditor
deloitte statsautoriseret revisionspartnerselskab.
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niels Jacobsen, president & Ceo 
(born 1957)
Joined the company in 1992 as executive 
vice president and was appointed presi-
dent & ceo in 1998. 
master of science in economics, 1983, 
from aarhus university.

lego a/s, chairman of the board
a.p. møller - mærsk a/s, deputy chairman of the board
kirkbi a/s, deputy chairman of the board
thomas b. thriges fond (thomas b. thrige foundation), 
chairman

in addition, niels Jacobsen holds the following executive 
positions and directorships in the william demant group:
william demant invest a/s, general manager; directorships 
in group-owned subsidiaries; directorships in the following 
partly owned companies: Össur hf., chairman of the board; 
sennheiser communications a/s, chairman of the board; 
himpp a/s, chairman of the board; himsa a/s, chairman 
of the board; and himsa ii a/s, director.
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we have today discussed and approved the annual report 
2011 of william demant holding a/s for the financial year  
1 January – 31 december 2011. 

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
and presented in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the eu, and the parent 
financial statements have been prepared and presented  
in accordance with the Danish Financial Statements Act. 
further, the annual report 2011 has been prepared in ac-
cordance with danish disclosure requirements for listed 
companies.

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and  
the parent financial statements give a true and fair view of 

Executive Board:

niels Jacobsen
President & CEO

Board of Directors:

lars nørby Johansen
Chairman

niels b. christiansen

ole lundsgaard

peter foss
Deputy Chairman

thomas hofman-bang

Jørgen møller nielsen

the group’s and the parent’s assets, liabilities and financial 
position at 31 december 2011 as well as of the consolidated 
financial performance and cash flows and the parent’s finan-
cial performance for the financial year 1 January – 31 decem-
ber 2011.

we also believe that management commentary contains a  
fair review of the development in the group’s and the pa-
rent’s business and financial position, the results for the  
year and the group’s and the parent’s financial position as  
a whole as well as a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that they face.

we recommend the annual report 2011 for adoption at the 
annual general meeting.

Smørum, 29 February 2012

karin ubbesen
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Copenhagen, 29 February 2012 Deloitte
statsautoriseret revisionspartnerselskab

to the shareholders of William Demant Holding a/S

report on the consolidated financial statements and parent 

financial statements

we have audited the consolidated financial statements and pa- 

rent financial statements of william demant holding a/s for the 

financial year 1 January – 31 december 2011, which comprise the 

income statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity 

and notes, including the accounting policies, for the group as 

well as the parent and the statement of comprehensive income 

and the cash flow statement of the group. the consolidated fi- 

nancial statements are prepared in accordance with Internatio-

nal Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the eu and 

danish disclosure requirements for listed companies, and the 

parent financial statements are prepared in accordance with  

the Danish Financial Statements Act. 

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated and parent 

financial statements

management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 

the eu and danish disclosure requirements for listed companies 

as well as the preparation of parent financial statements that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with the Danish Financial 

Statements Act, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consoli-

dated financial statements and parent financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.

auditor’s responsibility

our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements and parent financial statements based on 

our audit. we conducted our audit in accordance with Internatio-

nal Standards on Auditing and additional requirements under 

danish audit regulation. this requires that we comply with ethi-

cal requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reaso-

nable assurance about whether the consolidated financial state-

ments and parent financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit eviden-

ce about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated finan-

cial statements and parent financial statements. the procedures 

selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the as-

sessment of the risks of material misstatements of the consoli-

dated financial statements and parent financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, 

the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s pre- 

paration of consolidated financial statements and parent finan-

cial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. an audit also includes evaluating 

the appropriateness of accounting policies used, the reasonable-

ness of accounting estimates made by management as well as 

the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

and parent financial statements. 

we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

our audit has not resulted in any qualification.

opinion

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 

and fair view of the group’s financial position at 31 december 

2011 and of the results of its operations and cash flows for the 

financial year 1 January – 31 december 2011 in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 

eu and danish disclosure requirements for listed companies.

further, in our opinion, the parent financial statements give a 

true and fair view of the parent’s financial position at 31 decem-

ber 2011 and of the results of its operations for the financial year 

1 January – 31 december 2011 in accordance with the Danish Fi- 

nancial Statements Act.

Statement on Management review

pursuant to the Danish Financial Statements Act, we have read 

the management review. we have not performed any further 

procedures in addition to the audit of the consolidated finan- 

cial statements and parent financial statements.

on this basis, it is our opinion that the information provided  

in the management review is consistent with the consolidated 

financial statements and parent financial statements.

erik holst Jørgensen
State Authorised Public Accountant

kirsten aaskov mikkelsen
State Authorised Public Accountant

InDepenDent auDItor’S report
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General
the consolidated financial statements are presented in com-
pliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the eu and danish disclosure requirements for 
annual reports published by reporting class d (listed) compa-
nies, cf. the ifrs order issued in compliance with the Danish 
Financial Statements Act. the registered office of william 
demant holding a/s is in denmark.

the consolidated financial statements are presented in da-
nish kroner (dkk), which is the presentation currency for  
our corporate activities and the functional currency for the 
parent. 

the consolidated financial statements are presented on the 
basis of historical cost, except for derivatives and financial 
assets classified as held for sale, which are measured at their 
fair values.

with effect from 2011, the financial statements for the pa-
rent are presented separately from the consolidated finan-
cial statements and are shown on the last pages of this re-
port. the parent’s accounting policies are also shown on  
the last pages of this report in connection with the financial 
statements for the parent.

effect of new accounting standards 
the group has implemented all the new standards and inter-
pretations as approved by the eu and applicable to the 2011 
financial year. none of these new standards or interpretati-
ons resulted in any changes to the accounting policies for  
the group or had any significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements for 2011. an amendment to ias 1 Presen-
tation of Financial Statements has been implemented, and 
the statements of comprehensive income and changes in 
equity have been presented to meet the new requirements.

effect of new accounting standards not yet in force 
revised or new standards and interpretations issued, but  
not yet effective or approved by the eu at the time of publi-
cation of this annual report, have not been incorporated into 
this report.  

any further amendments to ias 1 will require that items re-
cognised in other comprehensive income will be classified  
in items that, in compliance with other standards, are subse-
quently reclassified from other comprehensive income to the 
income statement or classified in items that are not subse-

quently reclassified. these amendments will become effec-
tive for financial years starting on 1 July 2012 or later.

assessing the effects of the group’s implementation of ifrs 
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, ifrs 11 Joint Arrange-
ments and ias 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ven-
tures, which will become effective on 1 January 2013, will 
require a detailed analysis. following a concrete assessment, 
such amendments may mean that some group associates, 
which are treated as associates under the current account- 
ing policies, may have to be treated as subsidiaries and will 
therefore have to be consolidated. the existing option of 
using pro rata consolidation of joint ventures in the consoli-
dated financial statements will be revoked, as such ventures 
must subsequently be recognised under the equity method.

estimating the effect of such amendments is not possible in 
practice until further analyses have been made. 

the amendments have not yet been approved for use in  
the eu.

in management’s opinion, the future implementation by the 
group of other standards and interpretations will not have 
any significant impact on the annual reports for future re-
porting period.

accounting estimates and assumptions 
many accounting items can only be estimated rather than 
accurately measured. such estimates are based on the most 
recent information available on preparation of the accounts. 
estimates and assumptions are therefore re-valued on an on- 
going basis. actual figures may however deviate from such 
estimates. any changes in accounting estimates will be re-
cognised in the reporting period in which such changes are 
made. in connection with the practical application of the 
accounting policies, management has made normal ac-
counting estimates and assessments concerning develop-
ment costs, business combinations as well as the valuation 
of non-current assets, inventories, receivables and payables. 

in our opinion, the product development undertaken by our 
group today cannot meaningfully be allocated to either the 
development of new products or the further development  
of existing products. as our products are subject to various 
authority approvals, it is difficult to determine the final com-
pletion of new corporate products.

Group aCCountInG polICIeS
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Consolidated financial statements 
the consolidated financial statements comprise william de- 
mant holding a/s (the parent) and the enterprises in which 
the parent can or actually does exercise a controlling interest 
by either directly or indirectly holding more than 50% of the 
voting rights, or in which the parent in some other manner 
has a controlling interest. 

enterprises in which the group holds 20-50% of the voting 
rights or in some other manner can or actually does exercise 
a significant interest are considered to be associates and 
have been incorporated proportionately into the consoli-
dated financial statements using the equity method.

Consolidation principles
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on the basis of the financial statements for the parent and  
its subsidiaries by aggregating uniform items. enterprises 
which, by agreement, are managed jointly with one or more 
other enterprises are included through pro rata consolida-
tion. the financial statements that are included in the con-
solidated financial statements have been prepared in accor-
dance with the group’s accounting policies. intra-group in- 
come, expenditure, shareholdings, accounts and dividends 
as well as non-realised intra-group profits on inventories are 
eliminated. 

the accounting items of subsidiaries are recognised 100% in 
the consolidated financial statements. on initial recognition, 
minority interests are measured either at their fair value or at 
their proportionate share of the fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired 
subsidiary. the particular method is chosen for each indivi-
dual transaction. minority interests are subsequently adju-
sted for their proportional share of changes in equity of the 
particular subsidiary. comprehensive income is allocated to 
minority interests whether or not, as a result hereof, the va- 
lue of such interests will be negative. 

buying or selling minority interests in a subsidiary, which 
does not result in control or discontinuation of control of  
such subsidiary, is treated as an equity transaction in the 
consolidated financial statements, and any difference bet-
ween the consideration and the carrying amount is allocated 
to the parent’s share of consolidated equity.

Business combinations 
newly acquired or newly established enterprises are recog-
nised in the consolidated financial statements from the time 
of acquisition or formation. the time of acquisition is the date 
when control of the enterprise is actually taken. enterprises 
either divested or discontinued are recognised up until the 
date of divestment or discontinuation. the date of divest-
ment is the date when control is actually transferred to a third 
party. in respect of newly acquired enterprises, comparative 
figures and key figures will not be restated. 

on acquiring new enterprises of which the group obtains 
control, the purchase method is applied according to which 
their identified assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities  
are measured at their fair values on the acquisition date.  
any non-current assets acquired for the purpose of resale 
are, however, measured at their fair values less costs to sell. 
restructuring costs are solely recognised in the pre-acquisi-
tion balance sheet if they are a liability for the acquired enter-
prise. any tax effect of re-valuations will be taken into account. 

the cost of an acquired enterprise consists of the fair value of 
the consideration paid for such enterprise. if the final consi-
deration sum is conditional upon one or more future events, 
such adjustments will be recognised at their fair values on 
the acquisition date. any subsequent adjustment of contin-
gent consideration is recognised directly in the income state-
ment. acquisition costs are recognised directly in the income 
statement on payment. 

if cost exceeds the fair values of the assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities identified on acquisition, any remaining 
positive differences (goodwill) are recognised in the balance 
sheet under intangible assets and tested for impairment at 
least annually. if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, it will be written down to such lower 
recoverable amount. 

if on the acquisition date, there are any uncertainties with 
respect to identifying or measuring acquired assets, liabili-
ties or contingent liabilities or uncertainty with respect to 
determining the cost, initial recognition will be made on the 
basis of provisionally calculated values. such provisionally 
calculated values may be adjusted or additional assets or 
liabilities may be recognised for up to 12 months after the 
acquisition date, if new information becomes available about 
conditions prevailing on the acquisition date which would 
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have affected the calculation of values on that day, had such 
information been known.

profit or loss from the sale or winding up of subsidi-
aries and associates 
profits or losses from the sale or winding up of subsidiaries 
and associates, resulting in the group no longer having a 
controlling or significant interest, will be determined as the 
difference between the fair values of the sales proceeds or 
disposal sum and the fair values of any remaining interests. 
any such profits or losses will be recognised in the income 
statement together with any accumulated exchange rate 
adjustments previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

translation of foreign currency 
on initial recognition, transactions in foreign currencies are 
translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. the functional currencies of the companies are 
determined by the economic environment in which they ope-
rate (normally the local currency). 

receivables, payables and other monetary items in foreign 
currency are translated into danish kroner at the exchange 
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. realised and non-
realised exchange rate adjustments are recognised in the in- 
come statement under gross profit or net financial items, 
depending on the purpose of the transaction. 

property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories 
and other non-monetary assets purchased in foreign curren-
cy and measured on the basis of historical cost are translated 
at the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date. non- 
monetary items, which are re-valued at their fair values, are 
translated using the exchange rates at the revaluation date. 

on recognition in the consolidated financial statements of 
enterprises presenting their financial statements in a func-
tional currency other than danish kroner (dkk), the income 
statement is translated using average exchange rates for the 
months of the year in question, unless they deviate materially 
from actual exchange rates at the transaction dates. in case 
of the latter, actual rates of exchange are applied. balance 
sheet items are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at 
the balance sheet date. goodwill is considered as belonging 
to the acquired enterprise in question and is translated at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. 

exchange rate adjustments, arising from the translation at 
the beginning of the year of balance sheet items of foreign 
enterprises at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance 
sheet date and from the translation of income statement 
items from the rates of exchange prevailing at the transaction 
date to the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet 
date, are recognised in other comprehensive income. exchan-
ge rate adjustments, resulting from changes made directly in 
the equity of such foreign enterprise, are also recognised in 
other comprehensive income. 

exchange rate adjustments of intra-group accounts, which 
are considered additions to or deductions from the total 
investment in the particular enterprise, are recognised  
directly in other comprehensive income.

Derivatives
on initial recognition, derivatives – primarily forward exchan-
ge contracts and interest rate swaps – are measured at their 
fair values at the settlement date. after initial recognition, 
derivatives are measured at their fair values at the balance 
sheet date. any positive or negative fair values of derivatives 
are recognised as separate items in the balance sheet. for-
ward exchange transactions and interest swaps are measu-
red based on current market data and by use of commonly 
recognised valuation methods. 

any changes in fair values of derivatives classified as and 
satisfying the criteria for hedging of the fair value of a recog-
nised asset or a recognised liability are recognised in the in- 
come statement together with any changes in the fair value  
of the hedged asset or hedged liability. 

any changes in fair values of derivatives classified as and 
satisfying the conditions for effective hedging of future trans- 
actions are recognised in other comprehensive income. the 
ineffective portion is recognised directly in the income state-
ment. on realisation of the hedged transactions, the accumu-
lated changes will be recognised as part of the cost of the 
particular transactions. 

derivatives not fulfilling the conditions for treatment as 
hedging instruments are considered trading portfolios  
and measured at their fair values, with fair value adjust-
ments being recognised, on an ongoing basis, in the in- 
come statement.

group accounting policies
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Share-based incentive programmes
share-based incentive programmes entitling staff to buy 
shares in the parent only (equity schemes) are measured at 
the fair value of such equity instruments at the time of allo-
cation and are recognised in the income statement under 
staff costs over the period in which staff are entitled to buy 
such shares. the set-off is recognised directly in equity.

Income statement
income and costs are recognised on an accruals basis. the 
income statement is broken down by function, and all costs, 
including depreciation expenses, are therefore charged to 
production, distribution, administration or research and 
development.

revenue
revenues are recognised in the income statement upon de- 
livery and transfer of risk to buyer. revenues from services, 
including service packages and extended warranties, are re- 
cognised on a straight-line basis in step with the delivery of 
such services. 

revenues are measured at the fair value of the agreed con-
sideration excluding charges. any discounts and profits on 
goods expected to be returned are set off against revenues. 
revenues from agency-like business are measured at the 
value of the agency commission.

production costs
production costs are costs paid to generate revenues. com-
mercial companies recognise cost of sales under production 
costs. production companies recognise cost of raw materials, 
consumables, production staff as well as maintenance of and 
depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses for proper-
ty, plant and equipment and intangible assets used in the 
production process under production costs.

research and development costs 
research and development costs are always recognised in 
the income statement in step with payment of such costs.

research and development costs include all costs not satis-
fying capitalisation criteria, but incurred in connection with 
research and development, prototype construction, develop-
ment of new business concepts and amortisation of capita-
lised research and development costs.

Distribution costs
distribution costs include costs relating to training, sales, 
marketing, promotion materials, distribution, bad debts as 
well as depreciation and impairment losses for assets used 
for distribution purposes.

administrative expenses
administrative expenses include administrative staff costs, 
office expenses as well as depreciation and impairment 
losses for assets used for administration purposes.

public subsidies
public subsidies are recognised when there is reasonable 
certainty that the conditions for such subsidies are satisfied 
and that they will be granted. 

subsidies for costs paid are recognised proportionately in 
the income statement over the periods in which the particular 
costs are recognised in the income statement. subsidies are 
set off against costs paid. public subsidies attaching to a par- 
ticular asset are deducted from the cost of such asset.

net financial items
net financial items mainly consist of interest income and 
expenses and also include interest on financial leases, amor-
tisation of financial assets and liabilities as well as certain 
realised and non-realised exchange rate gains and losses. 

interest income and expenses are accrued based on the prin- 
cipal sum and the effective rate of interest. the effective rate 
of interest is the discount rate used for discounting expected 
future payments attaching to the financial asset or financial 
liability in order for the current value to match the carrying 
amount of such asset or liability. 

tax
tax on the year’s profit includes current tax and any changes 
in deferred tax. current tax includes tax payable determined 
on the basis of the estimated taxable income for the year and 
any prior-year tax adjustments. tax on movements in equity 
is recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive in- 
come. exchange rate adjustments of deferred tax are recog-
nised as part of the year’s adjustments of deferred tax. 

current tax payables or receivables are recognised in the ba- 
lance sheet and determined as tax calculated on the year’s 
taxable income adjusted for any tax paid on account. the tax 
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date are used for calcu-
lation of the year’s taxable income. 

group accounting policies
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deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability 
method on any temporary differences between the tax base 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts, except 
for deferred tax on temporary differences arisen either on 
initial recognition of goodwill or on initial recognition of a 
transaction that is not a business combination, with the tem- 
porary difference ascertained on initial recognition affecting 
neither net profits nor taxable income. 

deferred tax is determined on the basis of the tax rules and 
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date in the particular 
countries. the effect on deferred tax of any changes in tax 
rates is included in tax on the year’s profit, unless such defer-
red tax is attributable to items previously recognised directly 
in equity or in other comprehensive income. in the latter case, 
such change will also be recognised directly in equity or in 
other comprehensive income. the tax base of a loss, if any, 
which may be set off against future taxable income, will be 
carried forward and set off against deferred tax in the same 
legal tax entity and jurisdiction. deferred tax assets, includ-
ing the tax value of any tax losses that may be carried for-
ward, are recognised in the balance sheet at the estimated 
realisable value of such assets either by a set-off against a 
deferred tax liability or as a net asset to be set off against 
future positive taxable income. at the balance sheet date,  
an assessment is made as to whether it is probable that 
sufficient taxable income will be available in future against 
which the deferred tax asset can be utilised. deferred tax on 
temporary differences between the carrying amount and the 
tax value of investments in subsidiaries and associates is 
recognised, unless the parent is able to control the time of 
realisation of such deferred tax and it is probable that such 
deferred tax will not be released as current tax in the fore-
seeable future. 

deferred tax is recognised in respect of eliminations of intra-
group profits and losses.

Balance sheet
Intangible assets
on initial recognition, goodwill is recognised and measured 
as the difference between the cost of the acquisition, includ-
ing the value of minority interests in the acquired enterprise 
and the fair value of previously acquired interests, and the 
fair value of the acquired assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities, see description under Business combinations. 

on recognition of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to corporate 
activities that generate independent payments (cash-genera-

ting units). the definition of a cash-generating unit complies 
with the corporate managerial structure as well as internal 
financial management and reporting. 

in the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is not 
amortised, but tested for impairment at least once a year.  
if the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is lower 
than the carrying amounts of the property, plant and equip-
ment and intangible assets, including goodwill, attributable 
to the particular cash-generating unit, the particular assets 
will be written down. 

patents and licences acquired from a third party are measu-
red at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. 

patents and licences are amortised over their estimated 
economic lives, however maximum 20 years. 

other intangible assets, including intangible assets acquired 
in connection with a business combination, are measured at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
other intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful lives of 3-5 years.

property, plant and equipment
property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost less 
ac-cumulated depreciation and impairment losses. cost is 
defined as the acquisition sum and costs directly relating to 
the acquisition until such time as the particular asset is ready 
for use. as regards assets produced by the group, cost inclu-
des all costs directly attributable to the production of such 
assets, including materials, components, sub-supplies and 
payroll. cost in respect of financially leased assets is calcu-
lated as the fair value or the present value of future lease 
payments, whichever is lower. 

interest expenses on loans for financing of the production of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in cost if they 
pertain to the manufacturing period. other borrowing costs 
are recognised in the income statement. 

if the acquisition or use of an asset requires the group to 
incur costs for the demolition or restoration of such asset, 
the calculated costs hereof are recognised as a provision or 
as part of the cost of the particular asset, respectively. 

the cost of a total asset is divided into various elements, 
which will be depreciated separately if their useful lives are 
not the same. 

group accounting policies
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the depreciation basis is cost less the estimated residual 
value of an asset after the end of its useful life. the residual 
value is the estimated amount, which could after deduction 
of costs to sell be obtained through the sale of the asset to- 
day, such asset already having the age and being in the state 
of repair expected after the end of its useful life. the residual 
value is determined at the time of acquisition and reviewed 
annually. if the residual value exceeds the carrying amount, 
depreciation will be discontinued. 

property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives with the exception 
of land.

buildings 33-50 years
technical installations 10 years
manufacturing facilities and machinery 3-5 years
other plant, fixtures, tools and equipment 3-5 years
it hardware and software 3 years
leasehold improvements over the lease period

depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed annually. 

property, plant and equipment are written down to their 
recoverable amounts, if lower than their carrying amounts.

Interests in associates  
investments in associates are recognised and measured 
using the equity method, i.e. investments are recognised in 
the balance sheet at their proportionate share of the equity 
value determined in accordance with the group’s accounting 
policies, after the deduction of and with the addition of pro-
portionate intra-group gains and proportionate intra-group 
losses, respectively, and with the addition of the carrying 
amount of any goodwill. the proportionate shares of profits 
after tax of associates are recognised in the income state-
ment after the year’s changes in non-realised intra-group 
profits less impairment loss, if any, relating to goodwill.

the proportionate shares of all transactions and events, 
which have been recognised in other comprehensive income 
for the associate, are recognised in the consolidated other 
comprehensive income. 

on the acquisition of interests in associates, the acquisition 
method is applied.

Impairment losses for property, plant and equipment, intan-
gible assets and interests in associates 
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets with definite useful lives as well as invest-
ments in associates are reviewed at the balance sheet date to 
determine whether there are indications of impairment. if so, 
the recoverable amount of the particular asset is calculated 
to determine the need for impairment, if any. the recoverable 
amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefi-
nite useful lives will be assessed whether or not there are 
indications of impairment. 

the recoverable amount is assessed for the smallest cash-
generating unit that the asset is part of. the recoverable 
amount is determined as the higher of the fair value of the 
asset or cash-generating unit less costs to sell or the value  
in use of such asset or unit. on determination of the value in 
use, estimated future cash flows will be discounted at their 
present values by using a discount rate that reflects partly 
current market valuations of the time value of money, and 
partly the special risks attaching to the particular asset or 
cash-generating unit for which no adjustment has been made 
in the estimated future cash flows. if the recoverable amount 
of a particular asset or cash-generating unit is lower than its 
carrying amount, such asset or unit is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 
on any subsequent reversal of impairment losses due to 
changes in the assumptions on which the calculation of the 
recoverable amount is based, the carrying amount of an 
asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the adjusted 
estimate of the recoverable amount, however not exceeding 
the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit,  
had the particular asset or cash-generating unit not been 
impaired. amortisation of goodwill is not reversed.

other securities and interests
on initial recognition, other securities and interests are clas-
sified as ”assets held for sale”, recognised at their fair values 
and subsequently measured at their fair values. non-realised 
value adjustments are recognised in other comprehensive in- 
come. on realisation, value adjustments will be transferred 
to net financial items in the income statement.

the determination of fair values is based on current market 
data and by use of recognised valuation methods.

group accounting policies



44

Inventories
raw materials, components and goods for resale are measu-
red at cost according to the fifo principle (i.e. the most re-
cent supplies are considered to be in stock) or at their net 
realisable value, whichever is lower. 

group-manufactured products and work in progress are 
measured at direct cost, direct payroll costs, consumables 
and at a proportionate share of indirect production costs 
(ipo) and are subsequently allocated on the basis of the 
normal capacity of the production facilities. indirect produc-
tion costs (ipo) include the proportionate share of capacity 
costs directly relating to group-manufactured products and 
work in progress. 

the net realisation value of inventories is calculated as the 
estimated selling price less costs of completion and costs  
to sell.

receivables
receivables include trade receivables and other receivables. 
receivables are included in the category loans and receivab-
les, which are financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments, which are not listed on an active market and are 
not derivatives. 

on initial recognition, receivables are measured at their fair 
values with the addition of transaction costs. receivables 
with a definite expiry date are measured at amortised cost. 
receivables without a definite expiry date are measured at 
cost. current receivables arisen due to the group’s normal 
activities are measured at their nominal value. based on in- 
dividual assessments of loss risks, provisions are made for 
bad debts using a provisions account.
 
prepayments and accrued expenses
prepayments and accrued expenses recognised under assets 
include costs relating to the following financial year. prepay-
ments and accrued expenses are measured at cost.

equity
foreign currency translation reserve includes exchange  
differences on translation of financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries or associates from their respective functional 
currencies into danish kroner. foreign exchange rate adjust-
ments are recognised in the income statement on realisation 
of the net investment. 

hedging reserve includes fair value adjustments of deriva-
tives or loans satisfying the criteria for hedging of future 
transactions. the amounts are recognised in the income 
statement or the balance sheet in step with recognition of  
the hedged transactions.

treasury shares and dividend
on the acquisition or sale of treasury shares, the acquisition 
cost or divestment sum, respectively, is recognised directly  
in equity under distributable reserves. a reduction in capital 
through the cancellation of treasury shares will reduce the 
share capital by an amount corresponding to the nominal 
value of such shares. 

proposed dividend is recognised as a liability at the time  
of adoption at the annual general meeting.

pension benefit plans and similar commitments
the group has pension benefit plans or similar commitments 
with some of its employees. as regards defined contribution 
plans, the group pays regular, fixed contributions to inde-
pendent pension companies. such contributions are recog-
nised in the income statement for the period in which emplo-
yees have performed work entitling them to contributions 
under a benefit plan. contributions due are recognised in  
the balance sheet as a liability. 

as regards defined benefit plans, the group is obliged to pay 
a certain contribution when an employee covered by such a 
plan retires, for instance a fixed amount or a percentage of 
the final salary of the employee in question. in relation to 
de-fined benefit plans, an actuarial calculation is made annu-
ally of the accrued present value of future benefits to which 
employees through their past employment with the group are 
entitled and which are payable under the benefit plan. the 
value in use is calculated on the basis of assumptions in re- 
spect of the future development in wage levels, interest rates 
and inflation rates. the value in use less the fair value of any 
assets attaching to the benefit plan is recognised in the ba- 
lance sheet under provisions.

the annual pension costs are recognised in the income state-
ment based on actuarial estimates and the financial forecasts 
at the beginning of the year. differences between the esti-
mated development of pension assets and liabilities and  
their realised values are termed actuarial gains and actuarial 
losses, respectively, and are recognised in other comprehen-
sive income.

group accounting policies
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other non-current employee benefits are recognised also 
using actuarial calculation. actuarial gains or losses on such 
benefits are recognised directly in the income statement. 

provisions
provisions are recognised where, as a result of an earlier 
event, the group has a legal or constructive liability and 
where the redemption of any such liability is likely to draw  
on corporate financial resources. provisions are measured  
on a discounted basis based on management’s best esti-
mate of the amount at which a particular liability may be 
redeemed. the discount effect of any differences in the pre-
sent value of provisions during the financial year is recog-
nised as a financial expense. 

on the sale of products with a right of return, a provision  
is made in respect of the profit on products expected to be 
returned and of any costs connected with the return of such 
products. warranty commitments include the obligation to 
remedy faulty or defective products in the warranty period.

lease commitments
lease commitments concerning finance leases are recog-
nised in the balance sheet as a liability and are measured on 
signing of the particular lease at the lower of the fair value  
of the leased asset or the present value of future lease pay-
ments. after initial recognition, lease liabilities are measured 
at amortised cost. the difference between the present value 
and the nominal value of lease payments is recognised in  
the income statement as a financial expense over the lease 
period. 

lease payments concerning operational leases are recog-
nised on a straight-line basis in the income statement over 
the lease period. 

other financial liabilities 
debts to credit institutions are recognised at the date of 
bor-rowing at their proceeds less transaction costs. in sub-
sequent periods, financial liabilities are measured at amor-
tised cost for the difference between proceeds and nominal 
values to be recognised as a financial expense over the term 
of the loan. 

on initial recognition, other payables are measured at their 
fair values and subsequently at amortised cost using the ef- 
fective interest method for the difference between proceeds 
and nominal values to be recognised in the income statement 
as a financial expense over the term of the loan. 

prepayments and accrued income
prepayments and accrued income recognised under liabili-
ties include income received and pertaining to the following 
financial year. prepayments and accrued income are measu-
red at cost.

Cash flow statement 
the cash flow statement is based on the indirect method  
and reflects the group’s consolidated net cash flows by 
operating, investing and financing activities.

cash flows from operating activities include inflows from the 
year’s operations adjusted for non-cash-generating opera-
ting items, movements in working capital, financial income 
and expenses and corporation tax. 

cash flows from investing activities include payments in 
respect of the acquisition or divestment of enterprises and 
financial assets as well as the purchase, development, im-
provement or sale of intangible assets and property, plant 
and equipment. 

finance leases are considered non-cash transactions. cash 
flows relating to finance leases are recognised as payment  
of interest and debt repayment. 

cash flows from financing activities include payments to  
or from shareholders and the raising or repayment of non-
current or current debt not included in working capital. cash 
flows in currencies other than the functional currency are 
recognised at average exchange rates for the months of the 
year, unless they deviate significantly from actual exchange 
rates on the transaction dates. 

cash and cash equivalents are cash funds less interest- 
bearing, current bank debt.

Segment information
based on the aggregation criteria in ifrs 8 and the internal 
reporting model used by management for the assessment  
of results and the use of resources, we have identified one 
operating segment, the development, manufacture and sale 
of products and equipment designed to facilitate people’s 
hearing and communication, which complies with our ap-
proach to the organisation and management of activities.

a geographical distribution of revenues and non-current 
assets is also presented.

group accounting policies



46 consolidated income statement

2011

8,041
-2,264

5,777

-633
-2,959

-482
6

1,709

40
-143

1,606

-407
1,199

1,198
1

1,199

20.6
20.6

2010

6,892
-1,933
4,959

-615
-2,471

-449
6  

1,430

32
-148

1,314

-326
988

988
0

988

16.9
16.9

(dKK million)

Revenue
Production costs
Gross profit

Research and development costs
distribution costs
administrative expenses
share of profit after tax, associates
Operating profit (EBIT)

Financial income
Financial expenses
Profit before tax

tax on profit for the year
Profit for the year
 
Distribution of profit for the year:
William demant Holding a/s’ shareholders’ share
minority interests’ share

earnings per share (ePs), dKK
diluted earnings per share (dePs), dKK 

note

1
2/3

2/3
2/3

2/3/4
10

5
5

6

cOnSOlIDATED IncOmE STATEmEnT
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cOnSOlIDATED STATEmEnT Of cOmPREhEnSIvE IncOmE

(dKK million)

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation, foreign enterprises
value adjustment of hedging instruments:
 value adjustment for the year
 value adjustment transferred to revenue
actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans
tax on other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Distribution of total comprehensive income:
William demant Holding a/s’ shareholders’ share
minority interests’ share

Breakdown of tax on other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment relating to foreign enterprises
value adjustment of hedging instruments transferred to the income statement
value adjustment of hedging instruments
Tax on other comprehensive income

2010

988

122

-60
81
2

10
155

1,143

1,143
0

1,143

18
-23
15
10

2011

1,199

57

-58
-26
-24
13

-38

1,161

1,157
4

1,161

-9
7

15
13



48 consolidated balance sHeet – assets

2011

1,976
44
35

2,055

672
132
250
154
68

1,276

96
83

9
487
278
953

4,284

1,082
1,711

5
46

140
0

90
288

3,362

7,646

2010

1,660
53
41

1,754

565
137
213
133
63

1,111

83
70

6
435
266
860

3,725

993
1,609

7
32
57
30
93

240
3,061

6,786

(dKK million)

Assets
Goodwill
Patents and licences
other intangible assets
Intangible assets

land and buildings
Plant and machinery
other plant, fixtures and operating equipment
leasehold improvements
Prepayments and assets under construction
Property, plant and equipment

investments in associates
Receivables from associates
other investments
other receivables
deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

inventories
trade receivables
Receivables from associates
corporation tax
other receivables
Unrealised gains on financial contracts
Prepayments and accrued expenses 
cash
current assets

Total assets

note

8

9

10
10/15
10/15
13/15

11

12
13/15

15

13/15
15

15

cOnSOlIDATED BAlAncE ShEET AT 31 DEcEmBER
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2011

58
3,242
3,300

4
3,304

1,011
113
195
190

1,509

1,301
405

45
37

746
127
172

2,833

4,342

7,646

2010

58
2,385
2,443

0
2,443

1,045
86

171
173

1,475

1,454
342

78
39

726
65

164
2,868

4,343

6,786

(dKK million)

Equity and liabilities
share capital
other reserves
equity, William demant Holding a/s’ shareholders’ share
equity, minority interests’ share
Total equity

interest-bearing liabilities
deferred tax liabilities
Provisions
other liabilities
non-current liabilities

interest-bearing liabilities
trade payables
corporation tax
Provisions
other liabilities
Unrealised losses on financial contracts
Prepayments and accrued income
current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

operating lease commitments
contingent liabilities
Related parties
acquisitions 
divestments 
Government grants
non-cash items etc.
events after the balance sheet date
approval and publication
shareholders
board of directors and executive board

note

15
11
14
16

15
15

14
16
15

17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

cOnSOlIDATED BAlAncE ShEET AT 31 DEcEmBER
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(dKK million)

operating profit (ebit)
non-cash items etc.
change in receivables etc.
change in inventories
change in trade payables and other liabilities etc.
change in provisions
cash flow excluding net financial gains/losses and corporation tax
Financial income etc. received
Financial expenses etc. paid
Realised foreign exchange gains and losses
corporation tax paid
cash flow from operating activities (cffO)

acquisitions, participating interests and activities
divestments
investments in and disposal of intangible assets
investments in property, plant and equipment
disposal of property, plant and equipment 
investments in other non-current assets 
disposal of other non-current assets
cash flow from investing activities (cffI)

Repayment on non-current liabilities
Proceeds from borrowings
buyback of shares
other adjustments
cash flow from financing activities (cfff)

cash flow for the year, net
cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Foreign currency translation adjustment of cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Breakdown of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year:
cash
interest-bearing current bank debt
cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

2011

1,709
253
-112
-71
117

-2
1,894

35
-123

-2
-423

1,381

-330
5

-2
-407

25
-212
105

-816

-131
0

-301
-5

-437

128
-955

-19
-846

288
-1,134

-846

2010

1,430
181

-289
-111
-26

-3
1,182

29
-129

17
-273
826

-806
0

-11
-264

13
-162

92
-1,138

-554
1,050

0
-2

494

182
-1,118

-19
-955

240
-1,195

-955

note

23

23

23

15
15

cOnSOlIDATED cASh flOw STATEmEnT
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other reserves
(dKK million)

Equity at 1.1.2010
compr. income in 2010:
Profit for the year 
Other compr. income:
currency translation adjust-
ment, foreign enterprises
value adjustment of hedging 
instruments:
 value adjustment, year
  value adjustment trans-

ferred to revenue
actuarial gains/(losses) on 
defined benefit plans
tax on other compr. income
total other compr. income 
Total compr. income, year

Reduction of share capital 
through cancellation of 
treasury shares
other changes in equity
Equity at 31.12.2010

compr. income in 2011:
Profit for the year
Other compr. income:
currency translation adjust-
ment, foreign enterprises
value adjustment of hedging 
instruments:
 value adjustment, year
  value adjustment trans-

ferred to revenue
actuarial gains/(losses) on 
defined benefit plans
tax on other compr. income
total other compr. income 
Total compr. income, year

buyback of shares
other changes in equity
Equity at 31.12.2011

59

 -   

-   

 -   
 
-   
 
-   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 
-1 
 -   

 58 

 -   

 -   

 -   
 
-   
 
-   

 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

58

-93

-
 

122 

 -   

 -   

 -   
 18 

 140 
 140 

 
-   

 -   
 47 

 -   

54 

 -   
 
-   

 -   
 -9 

 45 
 45 

 -   
 -   

 92

-39
 
-   

 
-   

-60

81

 -   
-8
13
13

 
-   

 -   
-26

 -   

 -   

-58

-26

22
-62
-62

0
0

-88

1,375

988

 
-   

0

0

2
0
2

990

1
-2

2,364

1,198

-   

0

0

-24
0

-24
1,174

-301
1

3,238

1,302

988

122 

 -60 
 

81 

 2 
 10 

 155 
 1,143 

0 
-2 

 2,443 

 1,198 

54 

 -58 
 

-26 

 -24 
 13 

 -41 
 1,157 

 -301 
1 

 3,300

0

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0

1

3

0

0

0
0
3
4

0
0
4

share 
capital

William  
demant 

Holding a/s’ 
shareholders’ 

share

minority 
interests’

shareForeign 
currency trans-

lation reserve

Hedging
reserves

Retained 
earnings

cOnSOlIDATED STATEmEnT Of chAnGES In EqUITy

1,302

988

122 

 -60 
 

81 
 
2 

 10 
 155 

 1,143 

0 
-2 

 2,443 

 1,199 

 57 

 
-58 

-26 
 

-24 
 13 

 -38 
 1,161 

 -301 
1 

 3,304

total
equity

For changes in equity, please refer to Parent statement of changes in equity on page 84.
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note 1 – Segment information by geographic region and business activity

(dKK million)

Revenue and non-current assets by geographic region:

denmark
other europe
north america
Pacific Rim  
asia
other countries
Total

2010

194
2,752
2,617

566
470
293

6,892

2011

855
672

2,345
311
88
13

4,284

2010

856
616

1,878
279

86
10

3,725

2011

190
3,062
3,059

824
591
315

8,041

Revenue non-current assets

consolidated revenues mainly derive from the sale of goods and are broken down by the customers’ geographical location. the 
ten biggest single customers together account for less than 10% of total consolidated revenues. non-current assets are broken 
down by the geographical domicile of such assets. 

Revenue by business activity: 

Hearing devices
diagnostic instruments
Personal communication
Total

2011
 

7,075 
 686 
 280 

8,041

2010

6,098
535
259

6,892

Revenue

nOTES TO cOnSOlIDATED fInAncIAl STATEmEnTS 

Fair value adjustments transferred from equity relating to  
derivatives made for hedging of sales

2011
 

26

2010

-81

notes to consolidated Financial statements
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2011

 2,618 
 43 
 10 

 176 
 2,847 

 11 
0 

 3

2010

2,195
38
11

176
2,420

10
0

3

(dKK million)

Staff costs:
Wages and salaries
defined contribution plans
defined benefit plans (note 14)
social security costs etc.
Total

Of which cash remuneration for Executive Board and Board of Directors:
executive board, salary
executive board, bonus and pension

Remuneration, board of directors

the President & ceo of William demant Holding is entitled to a seniority bonus, matching one year’s salary for every four years  
of employment after 2005. this seniority bonus is recognised as a defined benefit plan commitment and will be paid out on termi-
nation of his employment. in 2011, the basic remuneration for a member of the Parent’s board of directors was dKK 300,000 (dKK 
300,000 in 2010). the chairman of the board of directors receives three times the basic remuneration and the deputy chairman 
twice the basic remuneration. Wages and salaries include a gift element of dKK 0 million (dKK 15 million) recognised in the in-
come statement from the sale of shares to employees in the Group’s foreign companies. the gift element is calculated as the  
difference between the market value of the shares at the time of granting and the allotment price to be paid by the employees. 

2011

 563 
 424 

 1,575 
 285 

2,847

7,392

2010

529
385

1,239
267

2,420

6,318

Staff cost by function:
Production costs
Research and development costs
distribution costs
administrative expenses
Total

average number of full-time employees

the number of employees in proportionately consolidated companies is included with the Group’s percentage ownership interest 
in the particular enterprises. the average number of such employees is 483 (487 in 2010), the William demant Holding Group ac-
counting for 297 (285 in 2010).

note 2 – Employees

notes to consolidated Financial statements
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note 3 – Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses

2011

-15
-187
-202

-51
-37
-88
-26

-202

5
5

1
3
1
5

2010

-15
-182
-197

-52
-48
-72
-25

-197

3
3

0
3
0
3

(dKK million)

amortisation of intangible assets
depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Total

Amortisation and depreciation by function:
Production costs
Research and development costs
distribution costs
administrative expenses
Total

Proceeds from sale of assets, net
Total

net proceeds from sale of assets by function:
Production costs
distribution costs
administrative expenses
Total

neither in 2011 nor in 2010, has there been any impairment losses for property, plant and equipment or intangible assets.

notes to consolidated Financial statements
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note 5 – net financial items

2011

25 
14 

1 
40 

-82 
-1 

-83 

-18 
0 

-2 
-40 

-143

2010

22
9
1

32

-87
-1

-88

-18
-1
0

-41
-148

(dKK million) 

interest income from bank deposits etc.    
interest income from receivables    
other financial income    
financial income from financial assets not measured at fair values in the income statement 

interest expenses relating to bank debt, mortgages etc.    
interest expenses relating to financial leases    
Interest expenses relating to financial liabilities not measured at fair values in the income statement

Foreign exchange losses, net
inefficiency from hedging of cash flows    
interest element, discounted liabilities    
transaction costs    
financial expenses

note 4 – fees to Parent’s auditors appointed by the annual general meeting

2011

9
0
2
1

12

2010

7
0
2
1

10

(dKK million)

statutory audit
other assurance engagements
tax and vat advisory services
other services
Total

a few Group enterprises are not audited by the appointed auditors or their foreign affiliates. 

notes to consolidated Financial statements
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note 7 – Earnings per share
2011

1,198

58.3
-0.1

58.2

20.6
20.6

2010

988

58.6
-0.2

58.4

16.9
16.9

William demant Holding a/s’ shareholders’ share of profit for the year, dKK million

average number of shares, million
average number of treasury shares, million
Average number of shares on the market, million
    
Earnings per share (EPS), DKK
Diluted earnings per share (DEPS), DKK

note 6 – Tax

2011

-408
16
8

-22
-1

-407

25.0 %
0.4 %
-1.1 %
0.0 %
0.7 %
0.3 %

25.3 %

2010

-342
7

19
-10

0
-326

25.0 %
-0.8 %
0.0 %
0.2 %
0.3 %
0.1 %

24.8 %

(dKK million)

Tax on profit for the year:
current tax on profit for the year
adjustment of current tax, prior years
change in deferred tax
adjustment of deferred tax, prior years
adjustment of deferred tax at the beginning of the year due to reduction of corporation tax rates
Total
 
Reconciliation of tax rates:
danish corporation tax rate
differences in tax rates of non-danish enterprises from danish corporation tax rate
Use of tax assets not previously recognised
Write-down of tax assets
Permanent differences
other items, including prior-year adjustments
Effective tax rate

notes to consolidated Financial statements



57

note 8 – Intangible assets

Goodwill Patents and  
licences

other
intangible 

assets

total 
intangible 

assets(dKK million)

cost at 1.1.2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments
additions during the year 
additions relating to acquisitions
disposals relating to divestment of enterprises
cost at 31.12.2011

Amortisation at 1.1.2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments
amortisation for the year
Amortisation at 31.12.2011

carrying amount at 31.12.2011

 91 
0 
0 

-3 
0 

88 

-38 
0 

-6  
-44 

 44 

 62 
 2 
1 
5 

-5 
65 

-21 
0 

-9 
-30 

 35 

 1,660 
 44 

0 
274 

-2 
 1,976 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

   
 1,976 

 1,813 
 46 

1 
276 

-7 
 2,129 

-59 
0 

-15 
-74 

 2,055 

cost at 1.1.2010
Foreign currency translation adjustments
additions during the year 
additions relating to acquisitions
disposals relating to divestment of enterprises
cost at 31.12.2010 

Amortisation at 1.1.2010
Foreign currency translation adjustments
amortisation for the year
Amortisation at 31.12.2010

carrying amount at 31.12.2010

80
0
8
3
0

91

-33
0

-5
-38

53

32
2
3

25
0

62

-10
-1

-10
-21

41

786
81
0

793
0

1,660

-
-
-
-

1,660

898
83
11

821
0

1,813

-43
-1

-15
-59

1,754

impairment testing is carried out annually on preparation of the annual report or when impairment is indicated. on impairment 
testing, discounted values of future cash flows are compared with the book values. Group enterprises cooperate closely on re-
search and development, purchasing, production as well as marketing and sale, the use of resources in the individual markets 
being coordinated and monitored by management in denmark. Group enterprises are thus highly integrated. consequently, ma- 
nagement considers the overall business as one cash-generating unit. certain business activities, which to a higher degree act 
with more autonomy in relation to the Group, and whose profitability can be measured independently of the other activities, con-
stitute a separate cash-generating unit. With the existing integration in the Group and recognised goodwill at 31 december 2011 
and 31 december 2010, no separate cash-generating units have been identified to which goodwill can be allocated. the annual 
impairment test was thus based on the Group as a whole. based on the impairment test, there was no impairment of goodwill  
at 31 december 2011 and 31 december 2010. Future cash flows are based on the budget for 2012, strategy plans and projections 
hereof. Projections extending beyond 2012 are based on general parameters. the terminal value for the period after 2012 is deter-
mined on the assumption of 2% growth (2% in 2010). the discount rate is 9% before tax (9% in 2010). apart from goodwill, all 
intangible assets have limited useful lives.

notes to consolidated Financial statements
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land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

other plant, 
fixtures and  

operating 
equipment

leasehold 
improve-

ments

Prepayments  
and assets

under
construction

total  
property, 
plant and 

equipment

note 9 – Property, plant and equipment

(dKK million) 

cost at 1.1.2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments
additions during the year
additions relating to acquisitions
disposals during the year
transferred to/from other items
cost at 31.12.2011

Depreciation and impairment losses 
at 1.1.2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments
depreciation for the year
disposals during the year
transferred to/from other items
Depreciation and impairment losses  
at 31.12.2011

carrying amount at 31.12.2011
 
Of which financially leased assets

 678 

-7 

91 

0 

0 

37 

799 

-113 

0 

-14 

0 

0 

-127 

 672 

40 

624

-1

46

-1

-5

6

669

-487 

-1 

-55 

4 

2 

-537 

 132 

0

 734 
 5 

118 
7 

-50 
13 

 827 

-521 
-4 

-89 
40 
-3 

-577 

 250 

0

 256 
 2 

50 
-1 
-3 
1 

 305 

-123 
-1 

-29 
1 
1 

-151 

 154 

0

 63 
1 

63 
-2 
0 

-57 
 68 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 68 

0

  2,355 
 0 

368 
3 

-58 
0 

 2,668 

-1,244 
-6 

-187 
45 

0 

-1,392 

 1,276 

40 

646
6

21
5
-1
1

678

-99
-1

-13
0
0

-113

 565

 47

585
10
42

6
-28

9
624

-445
-8

-62
27

1

 -487

 137

 0

 629
33
79
27

-43
9

734

-451
-22
-83
 36

-1

-521

213

1

  179
 16
 43 
 19

-1 
0

256

-90
-9

-24
0
0

-123

133

0

 23
 0 

 55 
 4
0

-19
63

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -   

 63

 0

 2,062
 65

 240
 61
-73

0
 2,355

-1,085 
-40 

-182 
 63 

0

-1,244

1,111

 48 

cost at 1.1.2010
Foreign currency translation adjustments
additions during the year
additions relating to acquisitions
disposals during the year
transferred to/from other items
cost at 31.12.2010

Depreciation and impairment losses 
at 1.1.2010
Foreign currency translation adjustments
depreciation for the year
disposals during the year
transferred to/from other items
Depreciation and impairment losses 
at 31.12.2010

carrying amount at 31.12.2010
 
Of which financially leased assets

Group property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of dKK 3 million (dKK 4 million in 2010) have been provided in secu-
rity of debt to credit institutions of dKK 3 million (dKK 5 million in 2010). Financial leases mainly concern properties acquirable at 
favourable prices on expiry of the term of such leases. at year-end, the contractual obligation as regards the acquisition of pro-
perty, plant and equipment amounted to dKK 0 million (dKK 0 million in 2010). neither in 2011 nor in 2010, have changes been 
made in material estimates in respect of property, plant and equipment. 
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note 10 – Other non-current assets 

investments
in associates

Receivables 
from 

associates

other
investments

(dKK million)

cost at 1.1.2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments
additions during the year
disposals during the year
cost at 31.12.2011

value adjustments at 1.1.2011
share of profit after tax
other adjustments
value adjustments at 31.12.2011

carrying amount at 31.12.2011

70
 13 
 0   
0

 83 

 -   
  -   
  -   
 -   

 83 

 13 
 0   
 3 

  0   
 16 

 -7 
  -   

  0   
 -7 

 9

 80 
0   

 15 
 0   

 95 

 3 
 6 

 -8 
 1 

 96 

cost at 1.1.2010
Foreign currency translation adjustments
additions during the year 
disposals during the year
cost at 31.12.2010

value adjustments at 1.1.2010
share of profit after tax
other adjustments
value adjustments at 31.12.2010

carrying amount at 31.12.2010

 0   
 0   

 70 
  0   

 70 

 -   
  -   
  -   
 -   

 70

 17 
 1 
 3 

  -8 
 13 

 -7 
   -   
 0   

 -7 

 6 

 13 
 0   

 67 
  0   

 80 

 1 
  6    
 -4 
 3 

 83 

Please refer to the Subsidiaries and associates list on page 92 for a list of associates. ownership interest equals share of voting 
rights. For further details on associates, please refer to note 19 Related parties.
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the tax base of deferred tax assets not recognised is dKK 81 million (dKK 105 million in 2010) and relates mainly to tax losses. 
this is due to considerable uncertainty concerning the use of the above tax assets. the tax losses will not expire in the near  
future. any sale of shares in subsidiaries and associates at the balance sheet date is estimated to result in tax in the amount  
of dKK 0 million (dKK 0 million in 2010).

note 11 – Deferred tax

2011

278
-113
165

180
2
7
2

-22
-1
-3

165

2010

266
-86
180

88
11
19
83
-10

0
-11

180

(dKK million)

Deferred tax is recognised in the balance sheet as follows:
deferred tax assets
deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax, net at 31.12.

deferred tax, net at 1.1.
Foreign currency translation adjustments 
change in deferred tax assets
additions relating to acquisitions
adjustment of deferred tax, prior years
adjustment of deferred tax at the beginning of the year due to reduction of corporation tax rates
deferred tax relating to changes in equity, net
Deferred tax, net at 31.12.

Breakdown of the Group’s temporary differences and changes:

intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
inventories
Receivables
Provisions
tax losses
other
Total

Recognised 
in other 

comprehen-
sive inconme

0
0
0
0
7
0

-5
2 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

0
0
0
0
0
0
2
2

acquisitions

0
-21
21
-6
-8
14

-16
-16

Recognised 
in profit for 

the year

0
0
0
0
0
0

-3
-3

temporary
 differences 

at 31.12.2011

-25
-49
105

10
46
69

9
165

temporary 
differences 
at 1.1.2011

-25
-28
84
16
47
55
31

180
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 note 12 – Inventories 

2011

576
28

478
1,082

148

0

45
1,742

2010

498
27

468
993

142

0

60
1,451

(dKK million)

Raw materials and purchased components
Work in progress
Finished goods and goods for resale
Inventories

Write-downs included in the above

carrying amount of inventories recognised at fair value after deduction of costs to sell 
 
Included in the income statement under production costs:
Write-downs of inventories for the year, net
cost of goods sold for the year

Write-downs for the year are shown net, as breakdown into reversed write-downs and new write-downs is not possible. 
inventories are generally expected to be sold within one year.
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 note 13 – Receivables

2011

  1,711 
 487 
 140 

2,338 

1,770
 388 
 128 
 82 
 88 

2,456 

 -110 
 1 
0

 22 
 -32 

 1 
-118

2010

 1,609
435

57
2,101

 1,527
419
135
88
42

2,211

-72
-3
-8
 6

-33
0

-110

(dKK million)

trade receivables
other non-current receivables
other current receivables
Total

Receivables by age:
balance not due
0-3 months
3-6 months
6-12 months
over 12 months
Total

Breakdown of the year’s development in write-downs:
Write-downs for uncollectibles at 1.1. 
Foreign currency translation adjustments
additions relating to acquisitions
applied during the year
additions during the year
Reversals during the year
write-downs for uncollectibles at 31.12.

anticipated uncollectibles are written down, if the value of an amount receivable is impaired on assessment of the particular  
debtor’s ability to pay. Write-downs are computed at net realisable value and recognised on a provisions account. For infor- 
mation on security or collateral, please see Risk management activities on page 22.  
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 note 14 – Provisions

2011

37
142
179
53

232

195
37

232

185
2
0
-1

47
-32
-22
179

9
4

-3
10

0
2
2
6

10

-28

2010

40
145
185
25

210

171
39

210

125
4

33
0

45
-18
-4

185

10
3

-2
11

1
3
3
4

11

-4

(dKK million)

other non-current employee benefits
miscellaneous provisions
other provisions 
defined benefit plan liabilities, net
Provisions at 31.12.

Breakdown of provisions:
non-current provisions
current provisions
Provisions at 31.12.

Other provisions:
other provisions at 1.1.
Foreign currency translation adjustments  
additions relating to acquisitions
disposals relating to divestment of enterprises
Provisions for the year
applied during the year
Reversals during the year
Other provisions at 31.12.
 

Defined benefit plan costs recognised in the income statement:
current service cost
calculated interest on plan liabilities
expected return on plan assets
costs recognised in the income statement (note 2)

Defined benefit plan costs by function:
Production costs
Research and development costs
distribution costs
administrative expenses
Total

Accumulated actuarial loss recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

miscellaneous provisions relate mainly to the Us patent case against etG with a provision of dKK 94 million (dKK 94 million in 
2010). the case originally concerned violation of two patents. in June 2011, the judge upheld the verdict in respect of one patent 
and reversed the verdict in respect of the other patent. the Group maintains that none of the etG patents have been violated  
and has therefore appealed the decision regarding the patent in respect of which the judge upheld the verdict. the Group finds  
no need to adjust the provisions made in respect of this case which will cover payment of any damages and legal costs. moreover, 
other provisions have been made regarding other disputes etc., and these provisions are essentially expected to be applied with-
in the next two years.
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Generally, the Group does not offer defined benefit plans, but it has such plans in switzerland and the netherlands, where they 
are required by law. moreover, the President & ceo of the company has a seniority bonus. Plan assets at 31 december 2011 in-
clude: bonds (41%), shares (22%), securities (22%), cash and cash equivalents (3%) and other assets (12%). Plan assets at  
31 december 2010 included: bonds (39%), shares (23%), securities (19%), cash and cash equivalents (6%) and other assets 
(13%). the Group expects to pay approx. dKK 12 million in 2012 (dKK 8 million in 2011) into defined benefit plans.

note 14 – Provisions – continued

2011
 

161 
 108 

53

36
12

2010

120
95
25

-1
1

(dKK million)

Present value of defined benefit plan liabilities:
defined benefit plan liabilities at 1.1.
Foreign currency translation adjustments 
current service costs
calculated interest on plan liabilities
actuarial losses/(gains)
benefits paid
contributions from plan participants
Defined benefit plan liabilities at 31.12.

fair value of plan assets:
Plan assets at 1.1.
Foreign currency translation adjustments 
expected return on plan assets
actuarial gains/(losses)
contributions
benefits paid
Plan assets at 31.12.

net plan liabilities recognised in the balance sheet

Return on plan assets:
actual return on plan assets
expected return on plan assets
Actuarial gains/(losses) on plan assets
 
Assumptions:
discount rate
expected return on plan assets
Future salary increase rate
 

2009

94
73
21

-6
3

2008

86
60
26

-2
-9

2007

72
57
15

 
-3
-1

Key figures for defined benefit plans:
Present value of defined benefit plan liabilities
Fair value of plan assets
net plan liabilities

Experience adjustments to plan liabilities
Experience adjustments to plan assets

2011
 
 

120
2
9
4

36
-15

5
161

95
2
3

12
11

-15
108

53

15
3

12

2.5%
4.0%
1.5%

2010
 
 

94
13
10
3
-1
0
1

120

73
12
2
1
7
0

95

25

3
2
1

4.1%
4.1%
1.8%
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note 15 – financial instruments and financial risks 

2011

0
0

83 
487 

 1,711 
5

 138 
 288 

 2,712 

 9 
 9 

 -127 
 -127 

 -17 
 -2,295

 -405 
 -745 

 -3,462

2010

 30 
 30 

70
 435 

 1,609 
 7

55 
 240 

 2,416 

 6 
 6 

 -65 
 -65 

 -20 
 -2,479 

 -342 
 -700 

 -3,541

categories of financial instruments

(dKK million) 

Unrealised gains on financial contracts
financial assets used as hedging instruments

Receivables from associates, non-current
other receivables, non-current
trade receivables
Receivables from associates, current
other receivables, current
cash
loans and receivables

other investments
financial assets available for sale

Unrealised losses on financial contracts
financial liabilities used as hedging instruments

Financial lease commitments
debt to credit institutions etc.
trade payables
other liabilities
financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

as was the case in 2010, most financial liabilities fall due within one year. as regards financial assets and liabilities, their carrying 
amounts generally match their fair values.

Policies relating to financial risk management 
Financial risk management concentrates on exchange rate, interest rate, credit and liquidity risks as well as safeguarding against 
losses on property, plant and equipment. Financial risk management initiatives aim to protect the Group against potential losses 
and make sure that management’s forecasts for the current year are only to a limited extent affected by fluctuations in the sur-
rounding world – be they fluctuations in exchange rates or interest rate levels or in the form of direct damage to Group assets. it 
is corporate policy to exclusively hedge commercial risks and not to undertake any financial transactions of a speculative nature.

Exchange rate risks
the Group seeks to hedge against any exchange rate risks through forward exchange contracts and other hedging instruments. 
currency hedging gives management the opportunity – and necessary time – to redirect business strategies in the event of per- 
sistent changes in foreign exchange rates. the Group aims to hedge such changes in foreign exchange rates by seeking to match 
positive and negative cash flows in the main currencies as much as possible and by entering into forward exchange contracts. 
our current use of such contracts will hedge estimated cash flows with a horizon of up to 24 months.
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Interest rate risks
Hedging interest rate risks on corporate loans is corporate policy if we find that interest payments can be hedged at a satisfac-
tory level compared with hedging costs. Hedging is generally done through interest rate swaps, with floating-rate loans being 
converted into fixed-rate loans. currently, the Group has limited debts compared with the volume of corporate activities.

liquidity risks
the Group aims to have sufficient cash resources to be able continuously to take appropriate steps in case of unforeseen fluc-
tuations in cash outflows. We have access to non-utilised credit facilities, and the liquidity risk is therefore considered to be 
low. in addition, we have committed loan facilities with our two primary banks in the amount of dKK 1.2 billion. We are of the 
opinion that the Group has a strong cash flow and satisfactory credit rating to secure current inflow of working capital and 
funds for any potential acquisitions. the Group has not failed to perform or defaulted on any loan agreements in the 2011 or 
2010 financial years.

credit risks
corporate credit risks relate primarily to trade receivables. our customer base is fragmented, so credit risks only involve minor 
losses on individual customers. together, our ten largest customers account for less than 10% of total consolidated revenues. 
We therefore estimate that we have no major credit exposure, which is supported by our track record of insignificant previous 
losses on bad debts. When undertaking lending transactions with customers or business partners, we require that they give 
security in their particular businesses. maximum credit risks relating to trade receivables match their carrying values. the 
Group has no major deposits in financial institutions, for which reason the credit risk of such deposits is considered to be low.

Exchange rate risks
Exchange rate risks relating to future cash flows
open forward exchange contracts at the end of the reporting period may be specified as shown below, with contracts for sale  
of currency being shown with negative contract values. the expiry dates reflect the periods in which the hedged cash flows are 
expected to be realised.

Realised forward exchange contracts are recognised in the income statement together with the items, typically the revenues in 
foreign currency, that such contracts are designed to hedge. in 2011, our forward exchange contracts realised a profit of dKK 26 
million (dKK -81 million in 2010), which increased reported revenues for the period under review. in addition, we raised loans in 
foreign currencies to balance out net receivables. at year-end 2011, we had entered into forward exchange contracts with a re-
purchase value of dKK 1,786 million (dKK 972 million in 2010) and a market value of dKK -84 million (dKK 13 million in 2010).

note 15 – financial instruments and financial risks – continued 
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Usd
JPy
aUd
cad
GbP
other  
currencies

2010

  26
-2

-15
2
2

0
13

26
0
0
2
2

0
30

0
2

15
0
0

0
17

41
19
9
6
6

3
84

2011
2011/12

2011
2011
2011

-

-417
-175
-86

-141
-153

0
-972

2011

contractual 
value

Positive 
fair values 

at year-end

negative 
fair values 

at year-end

forward exchange contracts 
(dKK million)

-877
-226
-185
-240
-294

36
-1,786

-41
-19
-9
-6
-6

-3
-84

0
0
0
0
0

0
0

2012
2012/13

2012
2012

2012/13

2012

expiry Fair value contractual 
value

Positive 
fair values 

at year-end

negative 
fair values 

at year-end

expiry Fair value

note 15 – financial instruments and financial risks – continued

Sensitivity analysis in respect of foreign currencies
the below table shows the impact on the year’s operating profit (ebit) and consolidated equity given a change of 5% in the cur-
rencies with the largest exposures. the exchange rate risk has been calculated on the basis of a simple addition of the ebits of 
Group enterprises in local currencies. Whereas the addition of ebits includes all Group enterprises, the net exchange flow is iden-
tical to the flow in oticon a/s. We estimate that approx. 90% of all currency exchange is made in oticon a/s and that the analysis 
therefore provides a true and fair presentation of the flow in the entire Group. the exchange flow includes actual exchange trans-
actions as well as changes in net receivables (debtors, creditors and bank balances).

dKK million

Usd
GbP
cad
aUd
JPy

Effect on equity, 5% positive exchange rate impact

2011

+35
+10
+10
+10
+5

2010

+30
+10
+10
+10
+5

Effect on EBIT, 5% positive exchange rate impact*

dKK million

Usd
GbP
cad
aUd
JPy

2011

+25
+5

+30
+10
+2

2010

+15
+5

+30
+10

+1

*  Estimated, on a non-hedged basis, i.e. the total annual exchange 

effect excluding forward exchange contracts.
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476
288
764

-17
-1,161
-1,134
-2,312

-1,548

17
0

17

 390
 240
630

-20
-1,284
-1,195

-2,499

-1,869

 21
-1

 20

3.0%

3.0%

3.0%

3.1%

2.8%

2.8%

(dKK million) 

2011
interest-bearing assets
cash
Interest-bearing assets

Financial lease commitments
debt to credit institutions etc.
interest-bearing bank debt
Interest-bearing liabilities

net position

financial lease commitments:
minimum lease payments
interest element
carrying amount

2010
interest-bearing assets
cash
Interest-bearing assets

Financial lease commitments
debt to credit institutions etc. 
interest-bearing bank debt
Interest-bearing liabilities

net position

financial lease commitments:
minimum lease payments
interest element
carrying amount

293
0

293

-6
-1,005

0
-1,011

-718

6
0
6

 384
 0

384

-16
-1,029

 0
-1,045

-661

16
0

 16

136
0

136

0
0
0
0

136

0
0
0

 6
0
6

0
0

 0
0

6

 0
 0
 0

47
288
335

-11
-156

-1,134
-1,301

-966

11
0

11

 0
240
240

-4
-255

-1,195
-1,454

-1,214

5
-1
4

Under  
1 year

1-5 years over  
5 years

total Weighted 
rate of 
return

note 15 – financial instruments and financial risks – continued

Interest rate risks

cash consists primarily of bank deposits of which dKK 40 million (dKK 28 million in 2010) relate to joint venture companies. 
interest-bearing liabilities broken down by currency: 32% in euros (30% in 2010), 29% in danish kroner (27% in 2010), 33%  
in Us dollars (29% in 2010) and 6% in other currencies (14% in 2010). some properties leased by the Group have been sublet  
to third parties. Future rents from these properties will as a minimum amount to dKK 0 million (dKK 2 million in 2010) in the  
non-cancellable period. apart from floating interest rates, lease agreements contain no conditional rent payments.

the Group seeks to have a net interest-bearing debt of about dKK 1.5-2.0 billion. this level has been determined in order to 
enable the Group to act quickly and flexibly, should any attractive acquisition possibilities arise. the desired level is among 
other things obtained through our share buyback programme. 
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note 15 – financial instruments and financial risks – continued

Usd/Usd
eUR/eUR
dKK/dKK
cad/cad

31.12.2010

0
745

40
84

869

0
0
0
0
0

0
46

2
0

48

7
32

4
0

43

2010
2013
2015
2011

4.0%
3.5%
3.0%

31.12.2011

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Positive 
fair values 

at year-end

negative 
fair values 

at year-end

the Group has fixed the interest rates on part of its non-current debt through interest swaps. 

2.3%
4.0%
3.5%

144
743

40
0

927

0
0
0
0
0

2016
2013
2015
2011

expiry contractual 
amount at 

year-end

Interest swaps 
(dKK million)

Fixed
interest 

rate

Positive 
fair values 

at year-end

negative 
fair values 

at year-end

expiry contractual 
amount at 

year-end

the fair value of outstanding interest swaps at the balance sheet date is dKK -43 million (dKK -48 million in 2010). the nominal 
value of outstanding interest swaps is dKK 927 million (dKK 869 million in 2010), such swaps running up to and including 2016. 
the ineffective portion of interest swaps is dKK 0 million (dKK 0 million in 2010).

Sensitivity analysis in respect of interest rates
based on the net debt at the end of the 2011 financial year, a rise of 1 percentage point in the general interest rate level will cause 
an increase in consolidated annual interest expenses before tax of approx. dKK 1 million (approx. dKK 2 million in 2010). about 
half of the interest-bearing liabilities is subject to fixed interest rates, partly due to interest swaps being made at floating interest 
rates and partly to loans raised at fixed interest rates.

methods and assumptions for calculation of fair values
Other securities and interests
other securities and interests are assessed on the basis of their net asset value.

Derivatives
Forward exchange contracts and interest swaps are assessed on the basis of generally recognised valuation methods based on 
relevant observable swap curves and exchange rates.

fair value hierarchy for derivatives measured at fair value in the balance sheet
the following classification of derivatives measured at fair value is divided according to the fair value hierarchy:
- listed prices in an active market for the same type of instrument (level 1).
-  listed prices in an active market for similar assets or liabilities or other valuation methods where all significant inputs are based 

on observable market data (level 2).
- valuation methods, with any significant inputs not being based on observable market data (level 3).
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note 15 – financial instruments and financial risks – continued

Financial assets used as hedging 
instruments

other investments (available  
for sale)

Financial liabilities used as  
hedging instruments

2010

30

0

-65

0

6

0

30

6

-65

0

9

0

0

9

-127

0

0

0

2011

0

0

0

0

0

-127

(dKK million)

level 2 level 3level 1 total level 2 level 3level 1 total

there are no transfers between levels 1 and 2 in the 2010 and 2011 financial years.

derivatives measured at fair value in the balance sheet based on valuation methods, with any significant inputs not being based 
on observable market data (level 3):

2011

6
0
3
0
0
9

2010

10
1
3

-8
0
6

financial assets available for sale
(dKK million) 

carrying amount at 1.1.
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Purchase
sale
transferred to/from level 3
carrying amount at 31.12.

Gains or losses in the income statement relating to assets held at 31 december 2011 amounted to dKK 0 million (dKK 0 million  
in 2010).
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2011

191
254

96
187
208
936

746
190

2010

199
217
77

193
213
899

726
173

note 16 – Other liabilities

(dKK million) 

Product-related liabilities
staff-related liabilities
other payables, public authorities
liabilities relating to acquisitions 
other costs payable
Other liabilities

due within 1 year
due within 1-5 years

Product-related liabilities mainly relate to service packages, warranties and returned products. staff-related liabilities include 
holiday pay and payroll costs due. the carrying amount of other liabilities matches the fair value of the liabilities.

 note 17 – Operating lease commitments

2011

 458 
 33 

 491 

 128 
 256 
 107 
491

2010

  398
 36

 434

 116
 217
 101
434 

(dKK million) 

Rent
other operating leases
Total

operating leases, less than 1 year
operating leases, 1-5 years
operating leases, over 5 years
Total

operating leases are recognised in the income statement at an amount of dKK 212 million (dKK 162 million in 2010). the Group’s 
operating leases mainly relate to rent and vehicles.
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note 18 – contingent liabilities

the William demant Group is involved in a few disputes, lawsuits etc. apart from the provision relating to the Us patent case, 
management is of the opinion that other disputes do not or will not significantly affect the Group’s financial position. the Group 
seeks to make adequate provisions for legal proceedings. a bank guarantee in the amount of dKK 92 million (dKK 90 million in 
2010) has been provided in respect of the Us patent case. 

as part of our business activities, the Group has entered into normal agreements with customers and suppliers etc. as well as 
agreements for the purchase of shareholdings.

For the purposes of section 17 of the Republic of ireland companies (amendment) act, William demant Holding a/s has under-
taken to indemnify the creditors of its subsidiaries incorporated in the Republic of ireland in respect of all losses and liabilities  
as referred to in section 5c of said act for the financial year ending on the 31 december 2011 or any amended financial period 
incorporating the said financial year. the company does not expect any material loss to arise from this guarantee.
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note 19 – Related parties

Related parties with control consist of the principal shareholder, William demant invest a/s, this company’s parent William 
Demants og Hustru Ida Emilies Fond (the oticon Foundation), Kongebakken 9, 2765 smørum, denmark, as well as the com- 
pany’s associates. 

Related parties with significant influence are the company’s executive board, board of directors and their related parties. 
Furthermore, related parties are companies in which the above persons have significant interests.

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates as well as the William demant Group’s ownership interests in these companies  
appear from the Subsidiaries and associates list on page 92.

the oticon Foundation lets office and production premises to the joint venture, sennheiser communications a/s. in 2011, the  
rental expense amounted to dKK 2 million (dKK 2 million in 2010). the oticon Foundation and William demant invest a/s paid 
administration fees to the Group of dKK 2 million (dKK 1 million in 2010) and dKK 2 million (dKK 2 million in 2010), respectively.

sales to joint ventures not eliminated in the consolidated financial statements amounted to dKK 26 million (dKK 29 million in 
2010). at year-end, non-eliminated receivables, net, with joint ventures totalled dKK 6 million (dKK 5 million in 2010).

in 2011, the Group has received royalties from and paid licence fees amounting to dKK 1 million (dKK 1 million in 2010) to asso-
ciates and has received dividends from associates in the amount of dKK 0 million (dKK 0 million in 2010). the Group has in 2011 
received interest income from associates in the amount of dKK 3 million (dKK 0 million in 2010).

there have been no transactions with the executive board and the board of directors apart from normal remuneration, please 
refer to note 2 Employees.

in the reporting period, transactions with related parties were made on an arm’s length basis.

2011
 
 

373
325

59
100

4
58

285
12

223
185

2010
 

326
309

45
81
8

48

165
13

168
136

(dKK million)

The consolidated financial statements include the following amounts related  
to joint ventures: 
Revenue
costs
non-current assets
current assets
non-current liabilities
current liabilities

financial information with respect to associates:
Revenue
net profit for the year
assets
liabilities

Joint ventures consist of activities in sennheiser communications a/s and Hearing Healthcare management inc., which are both 
proportionately consolidated in the consolidated financial statements based on the Group’s ownership interests of 50% and 65%, 
respectively. in compliance with the shareholders’ agreements, the Group holds joint controlling interest in both these companies 
together with the other shareholders of the companies. there are no major contingent liabilities in the two joint ventures.
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 2 
 3 
2

 18 
 13 
 11 

 -31 
 18 

 274 
 292 

 4 
 -11 

 285

 note 20 – Acquisitions

2010
intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
other non-current assets
inventories
Receivables
cash and bank debt
non-current liabilities
current liabilities
Acquired net assets
Goodwill
Acquisition cost
of which earn-out and deferred payments
acquired cash and bank debt
cash acquisition cost

 2 
 1 
2 

15 
 21 
 10 

 -28 
23

 234 
 257 

 3 
 -10 

 250

0
 1 
0
0
0
0
-1
 0   

 24 
 24 

 1 
0

 25

0
1
0

 3 
 -8 
 1 

 -2 
 -5 
 16 
 11 
 0   
 -1 

 10

Fair value on acquisition
(dKK million) 

2011
intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
other non-current assets
inventories
Receivables
cash and bank debt
current liabilities
Acquired net assets
Goodwill
Acquisition cost
of which earn-outs and deferred payments
acquired cash and bank debt
cash acquisition cost

 north australia europe/ total 
 america  asia

28
 61
 64
 49

 116
 66

 -111
 -206

 67
 793
860

 -121
 -66
 673

 27
 44
 61
 33
100
 59

 -107 
 -173 

 44
 653
697

 -120
 -59
 518

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-1
-1
1
0
1
0
1

1
 17

3
 16
 16

7
 -4

 -32
 24

 139
163

-2
 -7

 154
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note 20 – Acquisitions – continued

our most significant acquisitions in 2011 are related to a number of distribution enterprises in relation to diagnostic instruments, 
Gordon n. stowe being the most important with the purchase of 100% of the shares on 1 may 2011. in addition, we have made  
acquisitions of strategically important niche manufacturers of diagnostic equipment. acquisitions in relation to diagnostic instru-
ments represented a total of dKK 185 million of which identifiable assets accounted for dKK 60 million, identifiable liabilities for 
dKK 23 million and goodwill for dKK 148 million. Goodwill relates to the expected synergies between the activities in the acquired 
enterprises and the Group’s existing activities as well as any future potential for growth. in the above geographical segmentation 
of corporate acquisitions, our acquisitions of diagnostic enterprises have been included under north america.

the Group’s other acquisitions in the period under review included the acquisition of some or all activities in minor distribution 
enterprises in north america, australia and europe/asia. in respect of such acquisitions, we paid acquisition sums exceeding the 
fair values of the acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. the positive differences in values are based on expected 
synergies between the activities in the acquired enterprises and our existing activities, any future potential for growth as well as 
the value of the employees of such acquired enterprises. these synergies have not been recognised separately from goodwill, as 
they are not separately identifiable.

of the total sum of all acquisitions in 2011, the fair values of any contingent compensation in the form of earn-outs and deferred 
payments accounted for dKK 17 million (dKK 121 million in 2010), such payments depending on the results of the acquired enter-
prises in a period of typically 1-5 years after the date of acquisition.  

the acquired assets included contractual receivables amounting to dKK 10 million (dKK 87 million in 2010) of which dKK 0 million 
(dKK 10 million in 2010) is thought to be unrecoverable at the date of acquisition. of the total goodwill in the amount of dKK 274 
million (dKK 793 million in 2010), dKK 217 million (dKK 111 million in 2010) is deductible for tax purposes. no contingent liabilities 
have been included in acquisitions for 2010 and 2011.

the above statement of fair values of the respective acquired enterprises is not considered final until 12 months after acquisition. 
transaction costs in connection with acquisitions in the reporting period amounted to dKK 4 million (dKK 9 million in 2010), which 
have been recognised under administrative expenses. 

the revenues and profits or losses of the acquired enterprises since our takeover in 2011 amounted to dKK 113 million (dKK 223 
million in 2010) and dKK 10 million (dKK -10 million in 2010), respectively. Had such revenues, profits or losses been consolidated 
on 1 January 2011, the consolidated revenues and profits or losses are proforma estimated to have been dKK 8,100 million (dKK 
7,145 million in 2010) and dKK 1,203 million (dKK 918 million in 2010), respectively. in our opinion, these proforma figures reflect 
the level of consolidated earnings after our takeover of the enterprises in question, and consequently the amounts can form a 
basis for comparison in subsequent financial years. 

From the balance sheet date and until the date of presentation of accounts in 2012, we have acquired a minor manufacturer of 
diagnostic instruments and a few minor distribution enterprises.  We are in the process of calculating their fair values. the ac- 
quisition sums are expected to relate primarily to goodwill.

in 2010, acquisitions related to otix Global and a number of minor distribution enterprises. in 2011, some adjustments were made 
to the preliminary figures recognised in 2010. these adjustments were mainly attributable to the fair values of intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment of otix Global. in continuation hereof, recognised goodwill was raised by dKK 21 million. in 
addition, estimated earn-outs relating to acquisitions in 2010 were reduced by dKK 21 million. consequently, recognised goodwill 
was reduced by a similar amount. these adjustments were made in 2011 within a period of 12 months after the date of acquisition 
in 2010.
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 note 21 – Divestments

(dKK million) 

Goodwill
intangible assets
inventories
Receivables
cash
current liabilities
carrying amount of net assets divested

loss on divestments
Total proceeds from divestments

Proceeds from divestments, receivables
cash divested
cash effect, divestments

2011
 

 2 
 5 
 1 
 1 
 1 

 -1 
 9 

 -1 
 8 

 -2 
 -1 
 5

the divestment of enterprises and activities includes the divestment of some minor distribution enterprises and activities. there 
were no divestments in 2010. losses from such divestments are recognised in administrative expenses.

 note 22 – Government grants

in 2011, the William demant Group received government grants in the amount of dKK 0 mio. (dKK 0 mio. in 2010).

 note 23 – non-cash items etc.

2011

 233 
 -6 
 -5 
 31 

 253 

 -407 
 0   

 -407 

 0   
 0   
 0

2010

224
  -6 
 -2

 -35
 181

 -265
1

 -264

 1.051
 -1

 1,050

(dKK million) 

amortisation and depreciation
share of profit after tax in associates
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
other non-cash items
Other non-cash items

acquired property, plant and equipment
of which financially leased assets
Acquired property, plant and equipment, paid

Proceeds from the raising of financial liabilities
of which lease commitments
Proceeds from the raising of financial liabilities
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 note 24 – Events after the balance sheet date

there have been no events to materially affect the assessment of the annual report after the balance sheet date and until today.

 note 26 – Shareholders

the names of the shareholders listed below are recorded in the register of shareholders as owners of minimum 5% of the votes  
or minimum 5% of the share capital:

William demant invest a/s and this company’s parent, William Demants og Hustru Ida Emilies Fond (the oticon Foundation), 
Kongebakken 9, 2765 smørum, denmark. ownership interest is approx. 60%.

Fidelity international, Kingswood Fields, millfield lane, lower Kingswood, tadworth, surrey Kt20 6RP, england. ownership  
interest is 5-10%.

 note 25 – Approval and publication

at the board meeting on 29 February 2012, our board of directors approved this annual report for publication. the annual report 
will be presented to the shareholders of William demant Holding a/s for adoption at the annual general meeting on 11 april 2012.
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 note 27 – Board of Directors and Executive Board

the members of the board of directors and executive board of William demant Holding a/s hold other executive positions 
as specified below:
  
Board of Directors Other executive positions
 
lars nørby Johansen, chairman the danish Growth council, chairman
 danish Growth capital, chairman of the board 
 Falck a/s and one subsidiary, chairman of the board
 Georg Jensen a/s, chairman of the board
 University of southern denmark, chairman of the board
 donG energy a/s, deputy chairman of the board
 the Rockwool Foundation, deputy chairman of the board
 arp-Hansen Hotel Group a/s, director
 codan a/s and one subsidiary, director
 index award a/s, director

Peter Foss, deputy chairman Foss a/s, chairman of the board and director in one subsidiary
 n. Foss & co. a/s, deputy chairman of the board
 the oticon Foundation, deputy chairman of the board
 William demant invest a/s, director
 a.R. Holding af 1999 a/s, director
 
niels b. christiansen  danfoss a/s, President & ceo and directorships in six subsidiaries 

axcel a/s, chairman of the board
 danske bank a/s, deputy chairman of the board
 sauer danfoss inc., deputy chairman of the board
 
thomas Hofman-bang nKt Holding a/s, President & ceo and chairman of the board in three subsidiaries
 neurosearch a/s, chairman of the board
 danish committee on corporate Governance, member 

ole lundsgaard  interacoustics a/s, staff-elected director since 2003, deputy chairman of the  
joint consultative committee 

Jørgen møller nielsen  deputy chairman of the local business group under the danish society  
of engineers (ida)

 
Karin Ubbesen 3F thy-mors, director
  oticon a/s, shop steward, staff-elected director since 2007
 
Executive Board 
 
niels Jacobsen, President & ceo leGo a/s, chairman of the board
 a.P. møller - mærsk a/s, deputy chairman of the board
 KiRKbi a/s, deputy chairman of the board
 thomas b. thriges Fond (thomas b. thrige Foundation), chairman

notes to consolidated Financial statements



79



80 PaRent accoUntinG Policies

the financial statements for the Parent, William demant Hol-
ding a/s, are presented in accordance with the provisions of 
the Danish Financial Statements Act for large class d entities.

the Parent financial statements are presented in danish kro-
ner (dKK), which is also the functional currency for the Parent. 
the accounting policies are the same as last year.

the Parent’s accounting policies in respect of recognition  
and measurement are generally consistent with the Group’s 
accounting policies. the instances in which the Parent’s ac-
counting policies deviate from those of the Group are de- 
scribed below.

Income statement
Tax
the Parent is jointly taxed with its danish subsidiaries and its 
Parent, William demant invest a/s. current corporation tax is 
allocated to the jointly taxed danish companies in proportion 
to their taxable incomes.

Balance sheet
Goodwill
Goodwill is amortised on a straight-line basis over the useful 
life determined on the basis of management’s experience in 
respect of the individual business activities. the amortisation 
period is 20 years. Goodwill is written down to its recoverable 
amount if lower than its carrying amount

Rights acquired
Rights acquired are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful life and measured at cost with the de-
duction of accumulated amortisation and impairment charges. 
the amortisation period is five years. Rights acquired are writ-
ten down to their recoverable value if lower than their carrying 
value.

Interests in subsidiaries and associates
investments in subsidiaries and associates are recognised and 
measured using the equity method, i.e. such investments are 
measured at the proportionate share of the equity values of 
such subsidiaries or associates with the addition or deduction 
of the carrying amount of goodwill and with the addition or 
deduction of unrealised intra-Group profits or unrealised  
intra-Group losses, respectively.

the Parent’s proportionate shares of profits or losses are 
recognised in the income statement after elimination of un-

realised intra-Group profits or losses and with the deduction 
of amortisation and impairment, if any, of goodwill. 

subsidiaries and associates with negative equity values are 
measured at dKK 0, and any receivables from such companies 
are written down with the Parent’s share of the negative equi-
ty value, to the extent that such receivable is considered irre-
coverable. if the negative equity value exceeds receivables,  
if any, such residual amounts will be recognised under provi-
sions, to the extent that the Parent has a legal or constructive 
obligation to cover such liability incurred by the particular 
subsidiary or associate.

the net revaluation of investments in subsidiaries and as- 
sociates is transferred on distribution of profit or loss to  
reserves for net revaluation according to the equity method 
under equity.

Other securities and interests
on initial recognition, other securities and interests are mea-
sured at cost. subsequently, they are measured at their fair 
values on the balance sheet date, and any changes in fair 
values are recognised in the income statement under net 
financial items.

Statement of changes in equity
in compliance with the format requirements of the Danish 
Financial Statements Act, any items included under com- 
prehensive income in the consolidated financial statements 
are recognised directly in equity in the Parent financial state-
ments.

cash flow statement
in compliance with s. 84(4) of the Danish Financial Statements 
Act, a cash flow statement is not drawn up for the Parent, such 
statement being included in the consolidated cash flow state-
ment.

PAREnT AccOUnTInG POlIcIES
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(dKK million)

administrative expenses
other operating income
Operating loss (EBIT)

share of profit after tax, subsidiaries
share of profit after tax, associates
Financial income
Financial expenses
Profit before tax

tax on profit for the year
Profit for the year
 
Proposed distribution of net profit:
transferred to reserves for net revaluation according to the equity method
Retained earnings

note

1/2

7
7
3
3

4

2010

-67
43

-24

941
-1

46
-48
914

3
917

380
537
917

2011

-54
45
-9

1,098
0

39
-60

1,068

6
1,074

541
533

1,074

PAREnT IncOmE STATEmEnT
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(dKK million)

Assets 
Goodwill
Rights acquired
Intangible assets

land and buildings
other plant, fixtures and operating equipment
Property, plant and equipment

investments in subsidiaries
Receivables from subsidiaries
investments in associates
other investments
other receivables
financial assets

non-current assets

corporation tax
other receivables
Prepayments and accrued expenses
Receivables

cash

current assets

Assets

2011

59
5

64

24
2

26

3,999
1,517

17
4

14
5,551

5,641

6
0
1
7

3

10

 5,651

2010

75
8

83

24
2

26

3,122
1,068

19
4

32
 4,245

 4,354

0
1
2
3

0

3

4,357

note

5

6

7

PAREnT BAlAncE ShEET AT 31 DEcEmBER
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(dKK million)

Equity and liabilities
share capital
other reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity 

other provisions 
deferred tax liabilities
Provisions

bank debt
debt to subsidiaries
other liabilities
non-current liabilities

current share of non-current payables
debt to subsidiaries
corporation tax
other liabilities
current liabilities

liabilities

Equity and liabilities

contingent liabilities
Related parties
shareholders
events after the balance sheet date

2011

58
1,061

2,404
3,523

20
25
45

918
69
52

1,039

0
1,006

0
38

1,044

2,083

5,651

2010

58
538

2,168
2,764

16
5

21

923
67
60

1,050

65
402

1
54

522

1,572

4,357

note

4

8

8

9
10
11
12

PAREnT BAlAncE ShEET AT 31 DEcEmBER
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(dKK million)

Equity at 1.1.2010
net profit for the year
Foreign currency translation adjustment of 
investments in subsidiaries etc.
other changes in equity in subsidiaries
value adjustment of hedging instruments
tax related to changes in equity
Reduction of share capital through cancel-
lation of treasury shares
Equity at 31.12.2010

net profit for the year
Foreign currency translation adjustment of 
investments in subsidiaries etc.
other changes in equity in subsidiaries
value adjustment of hedging instruments
tax related to changes in equity
buyback of shares
other changes in equity
Equity at 31.12.2011

59
 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 -1 
 58 

 -   

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 58 

1,633
 537 

 -   
 -3 

 -   
 -   
 
1 

 2,168 

 533 

 -   
 3 
 -   
 -   

 -301 
 1 

 2,404

1,688
 917 

 
131 
21 
 4 
 3 

 -   
 2,764 

 1,074 

 46 
 -73 
 13 
 -1 

 -301 
 1 

 3,523 

-73
 -   

 -14 
 -   
 -   

 4 

 -   
 -83 

 -   
 

-7 
 -   
 -   

 2 
 -   
 -   

 -88 

-37
 -   

 -   

 4 
 -1 

 -   
 -34 

 -   

 -   

 13 
 -3 

 -   
 -   

 -24 

other reserves

at year-end 2011, the share capital was nominally dKK 58 million (dKK 58 million in 2010) divided into the corresponding number 
of shares of dKK 1. there are no restrictions on the negotiability or voting rights of the shares. at year-end 2011, the number of 
shares in the market was 57,641,005 (58,349,875 in 2010). For additional information, please refer to note 11 Shareholders.  

Foreign cur- 
rency trans-

lation reserve

share 
capital

Hedging
reserves

Retained
earnings

total
equity

changes in share capital:
share capital at the beginning of the year
Reduction of share capital through cancellation  
of treasury shares
Share capital at the end of the year

2011

58
 

0
 58

2008

61
 

-2
59

2007

63
 

-2
61

2010

59
 

-1
 58

2009

59
 

0
59

holding of treasury shares:
treasury shares at 1.1.
buyback of shares
Used for reduction of share capital during the year
Treasury shares at 31.12.

treasury 
shares

606,382
0

-606,382
0

1.0%
0.0%
-1.0%
0.0%

Percentage of 
share capital

2011

treasury
shares

Percentage of 
share capital

2010

0
708,870

0
708,870

0.0%
1.2%
0.0%
1.2%

as part of the company’s share buyback programme, which was resumed in mid-2011, the company acquired 708,870 treasury 
shares in 2011 worth a total of dKK 301 million.

PAREnT STATEmEnT Of chAnGES In EqUITy

PaRent statement oF cHanGes in eqUity

Reserve
according to 

equity method

106
 380 

 
145 
24 

 - 
 - 

 -   
 655 

 541 

 53 
 -76 

 0 
 - 
 - 
 - 

 1,173 
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note 1 – Employees

(dKK million)

Staff cost:
Wages and salaries
Pension plans
Total

Of which cash remuneration for Executive Board and Board of Directors:
executive board, salary
executive board, bonus and pension

board of directors, remuneration

2011

31
1

32

11
0

3

2010

26
0

26

10
0

3

2011

15

2010

10

For a description of seniority bonus, reference is made to note 2 Employees in the consolidated financial statements. in 2011, the 
basic fee for a member of the Parent’s board of directors amounted to dKK 300,000 (dKK 300,000 in 2010). the chairman’s fee 
was three times the basic fee and the deputy chairman’s fee twice the basic fee.

average number of full-time employees

note 2 – fees to Parent’s auditors appointed by the annual general meeting

2011

1
1

2010

1
1

(dKK million)

statutory audit
Total

nOTES TO PAREnT fInAncIAl STATEmEnTS
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note 3 – net financial items

2011

36
3
0

39

-10
-44

-1
-5

-60

2010

28
2

16
46

-5
-41
-2
0

-48

(dKK million)

Tax on profit for the year:
current tax on profit for the year
adjustment of current tax, prior years
change in deferred tax
adjustment of deferred tax, prior years
Total
 
Reconciliation of tax rates:
tax on profit for the year
tax on equity items
Total tax for the year

Deferred tax is recognised in the balance sheet as follows:
deferred tax assets
deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax, net at 31.12.

deferred tax, net at 1.1.
change in deferred tax assets
adjustment of deferred tax, prior years
Deferred tax, net at 31.12.

2011

6
20

1
-21

6

7
-1
6

0
-25
-25

-5
1

-21
-25

2010

6
3
0

-6
3

0
3
3

0
-5
-5

1
0

-6
-5

(dKK million)

interest income from subsidiaries
interest income
Foreign exchange gains, net
financial income

interest expenses to subsidiaries
interest expenses
transaction costs
Foreign exchange losses, net
financial expenses

note 4 – Tax on profit for the year and deferred tax
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note 5 – Intangible assets 

(dKK million)

cost at 1.1.2011
additions during the year
adjustment of acquisitions
cost at 31.12.2011

Amortisation at 1.1.2011
amortisation for the year
Amortisation at 31.12.2011

carrying amount at 31.12.2011
 

cost at 1.1.2010
additions during the year
additions relating to acquisitions
cost at 31.12.2010

Amortisation at 1.1.2010
amortisation for the year
Amortisation at 31.12.2010

carrying amount at 31.12.2010

78
0

-13
65

-3
-3
-6

59

0
0

78
78

0
-3
-3

75

9
0

-2
7

-1
-1
-2

5

0
0
9
9

0
-1
-1

8

87
0

-15
72

-4
-4
-8

64

0
0

87
87

0
-4
-4

83

Goodwill Rights 
acquired

total intan-
gible assets

Goodwill is amortised over 20 years, reflecting the useful life estimated by management.
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note 6 – Property, plant and equipment 

(dKK million)

cost at 1.1.2011
additions during the year
disposals during the year
cost at 31.12.2011

Depreciation and impairment losses at 1.1.2011
depreciation for the year
disposals during the year
Depreciation and impairment losses at 31.12.2011

carrying amount at 31.12.2011
 

cost at 1.1.2010
additions during the year
disposals during the year
cost at 31.12.2010

Depreciation and impairment losses at 1.1.2010
depreciation for the year
disposals during the year
Depreciation and impairment losses at 31.12.2010

carrying amount at 31.12.2010

30
0
0

30

-6
0
0

-6

24

30
0
0

30

-6
0
0

-6

24

2
0
0
2

0
0
0
0

2

2
1

-1
2

-1
0
1
0

2

32
0
0

32

-6
0
0

-6

26

32
1

-1
32

-7
0
1

-6

26

land and 
buildings

other plant, 
fixtures and 

operating 
equipment

total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

the Parent has no financially leased assets.
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note 7 – financial assets

(dKK million)

cost at 1.1.2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments
additions during the year
disposals during the year
cost at 31.12.2011

value adjustments at 1.1.2011
Foreign currency translation adjustments 
share of profit after tax
dividends received
other adjustments
value adjustments at 31.12.2011

carrying amount at 31.12.2011

investments
in subsidiaries

other
investments

other
receivables

cost at 1.1.2010
Foreign currency translation adjustments 
additions during the year
disposals during the year
cost at 31.12.2010

value adjustments at 1.1.2010
Foreign currency translation adjustments 
share of profit/loss after tax
dividends received
other adjustments
value adjustments at 31.12.2010

carrying amount at 31.12.2010

the carrying amounts of investments in subsidiaries include capitalised goodwill in the net amount of dKK 59 million (dKK 62  
million in 2010). amortisation of consolidated capitalised goodwill for the year is dKK 3 million (dKK 3 million in 2010). Receiv-
ables from subsidiaries of dKK 1,517 million (dKK 1,068 million in 2010) are considered additions to the total investments in the 
particular enterprises and are therefore considered non-current. other receivables worth dKK 14 million (dKK 32 million in 2010) 
will fall due after five years. Please refer to the Subsidiaries and associates list on page 92 for further information on subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates.

 1,480 
 0   

 1,066
-80

2,466

 106 
 145
 941

 -560 
24

656

3,122

0
0
3
0
3

1
0
-
-

0
1

4

37
0
5

-10
32

-
-
-
-
-
-

32

 2,466
0 

 361 
 -4 

 2,823 

 656 
 53 

 1,098 
 -557 

 -74 
 1,176 

 3,999 

Receivables 
from

subsidiaries

 1,061 
 8 

 99 
 -100

 1,068 

-
-
-
-
-
-

1,068

 1,068
0 

 467 
 -18 

 1,517 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 1,517 

 3
0 

  0   
0   

 3 

 1 
 0   
 -   
 -   

 0   
 1 

 4 

 32
0 
 1 

 -19 
 14 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

 14 

investments
in associates

 7 
0   

 13
0

20

0
0
-1
0
0
-1

19

 20
0 

  0   
0   

 20 

 -1 
 0   
 0 
 0   

 -2 
 -3 

 17 
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2011

1
2

52
3

32
90

38
52

2010

1
0

63
4

46
114

54
60

note 8 – Other liabilities

(dKK million)

staff-related liabilities
other liabilities, public authorities
liabilities relating to acquisitions 
other costs payable
Unrealised losses on financial contracts
Other liabilities

due within 1 year
due within 1-5 years

staff-related liabilities include holiday pay and payroll costs due. the carrying amount of other liabilities matches the fair value  
of the liabilities. of the non-current bank debt in the amount of dKK 918 million (dKK 923 million in 2010), dKK 0 million (dKK 0 
million in 2010) will fall due after five years. the non-current payables to subsidiaries of dKK 69 million (dKK 67 million in 2010) 
are considered a deduction from the total investment in the particular enterprises and are therefore considered non-current.
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note 9 – contingent liabilities

William demant Holding a/s has provided security in respect of credit facilities established by danish subsidiaries. these credit 
facilities totalled dKK 1,417 million (dKK 1,695 million in 2010) of which dKK 523 million has been utilised (dKK 651 million in 
2010). moreover, we have established a mutual guarantee with oticon a/s in the amount of dKK 900 million, which is being  
utilised on a current basis. 

William demant Holding a/s has provided security in respect of a subsidiary’s rent amounting to dKK 3 million (dKK 5 million  
in 2010) as well as guarantees concerning the continuous operation and payment liabilities in 2012 of some of our subsidiaries. 

For the purposes of section 17 of the Republic of ireland companies (amendment) act, William demant Holding a/s has under-
taken to indemnify the creditors of its subsidiaries incorporated in the Republic of ireland in respect of all losses and liabilities  
as referred to in section 5c of said act for the financial year ending on the 31 december 2011 or any amended financial period 
incorporating the said financial year. the company does not expect any material loss to arise from this guarantee.

note 10 – Related parties

Related parties with control consist of the principal shareholder, William demant invest a/s, this company’s parent William 
Demants og Hustru Ida Emilies Fond (the oticon Foundation), Kongebakken 9, 2765 smørum, denmark, as well as the com- 
pany’s associates. 

Related parties with significant influence are the company’s executive board, board of directors and their related parties. 
Furthermore, related parties are companies in which the above persons have significant interests.

in the reporting period, transactions with related parties were made on an arm’s length basis. 

note 12 – Events after the balance sheet date

Please refer to note 24 Events after the balance sheet date in the consolidated financial statements.

note 11 – Shareholders

the names of the shareholders listed below are recorded in the register of shareholders as owners of minimum 5% of the votes  
or minimum 5% of the share capital:

William demant invest a/s and this company’s parent, William Demants og Hustru Ida Emilies Fond (the oticon Foundation), 
Kongebakken 9, 2765 smørum, denmark. ownership interest is approx. 60%.

Fidelity international, Kingswood Fields, millfield lane, lower Kingswood, tadworth, surrey Kt20 6RP, england. ownership  
interest is 5-10%.
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Company Interest

william Demant holding A/S  Parent

oticon a/s, denmark*  100%

oticon as, norway*  100%

oticon ab, sweden*  100%

oy oticon ab, Finland*  100%

oticon GmbH, Germany  100%

oticon nederland b.v., Holland*  100%

oticon s.a., switzerland*  100%

oticon italia s.r.l., italy*  100%

oticon españa s.a., spain  100%

oticon Polska sp. z o.o., Poland*  100%

oticon Polska Production sp. z o.o., Poland  100%

oticon limited, United Kingdom*  100%

oticon inc., Usa  100%

oticon canada ltd., canada*  100%

oticon australia Pty. ltd., australia*  100%

oticon new Zealand ltd., new Zealand*  100%

oticon K.K., Japan*  100%

oticon singapore Pte ltd., singapore*  100%

oticon shanghai Hearing technology co. ltd., china*  100%

oticon international trading shanghai co. ltd., china*  100%

oticon south africa (Pty) ltd., south africa*  100%

oticon Korea co. ltd., Korea*  100%

oticon malaysia sdn, malaysia*  100%

oticon medical a/s, denmark*  100%

oticon medical ab, sweden  100%

oticon medical inc., Usa  100%

Prodition s.a., France*  100%

bernafon aG, switzerland*  100%

bernafon Hörgeräte GmbH, Germany  100%

bernafon s.r.l., italy*  100%

maico s.r.l., italy*  100%

bernafon llc, Usa  100%

bernafon canada ltd., canada  100%

bernafon australia Pty. ltd., australia*  100%

bernafon new Zealand Pty. ltd., new Zealand  100%

 

Company Interest

bernafon K.K., Japan  100%

bernafon nederland b.v., Holland*  100%

Kuulopiiri oy, Finland*  100%

acustica sp. z o.o., Poland*  100%

ad styla sp. z o.o., Poland  100%

adelaide digital Hearing solutions Pty. ltd., australia  100%

akoustica medica m ePe, Greece  100%

american Hearing aid associates, inc., Usa  100%

amplivox ltd., United Kingdom 100%

centro auditivo telex s.a., brazil  100%

diagnostic Group llc, Usa  100%

digital Hearing (UK) ltd., United Kingdom  100%

Hidden Hearing (UK) ltd., United Kingdom  100%

Hidden Hearing limited, ireland  100%

Hidden Hearing (Portugal), Unipessoal lda., Portugal  100%

interacoustics a/s, denmark*  100%

interacoustics Pty. ltd., australia*  100%

maico diagnostic GmbH, Germany*  100%

Phonic ear a/s, denmark*  100%

sonic innovations inc., Usa  100%

van boxtel Hoorwinkels b.v., Holland  100%

Western Hearing services Pty. ltd., australia  100%

canada Hearing centre ltd., canada  100%

Gordon n. stowe and associates inc., Usa 100%

Fonikon biernacki K.a. & Konopka a.K. sp. z o.o., Poland  100%

m.s.R. northwest inc., Usa 100%

m.s.R. West, inc., Usa 100%

tele-acoustics charlotte inc. Usa 100%

sensory devices inc., Usa 100%

medRx inc., Usa 100%

ses isitme cihazlari san ve tic. a.s, turkey  80%

Frontrow calypso llc., Usa 75%

Hearing Healthcare management inc., Usa  65%

sennheiser communications a/s, denmark  50%

nearcom llc, Usa  33%

Himsa a/s, denmark  25%

The list includes active Group companies. 

* Directly owned by the Parent.
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